


Fortress Fund Managers is a Barbados-based investment manager. 
We have been providing top-ranked returns, open communication and 
accessible service to our clients since 1996.

We offer a range of funds and investment products to meet the needs 
of individuals and institutions. In each case, our main goal is to achieve 
consistent long-term returns for our clients. We do this by applying 
sound, disciplined processes to our investments in equities, fixed 
income and real estate.  We offer products with global reach, as well as 
those that focus primarily on the Caribbean region.

Please feel free to contact us to learn more about this Fund, or any of 
our products.

Fortress Fund Managers Limited
First Floor, Carlisle House
Hincks Street
Bridgetown
Barbados
BB11144
TEL (246) 431 2198
FAX (246) 431 0514
invest@fortressfund.com
www.fortressfund.com
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Investment Objectives & Fund Details

FUND NAME:  Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC

FUND TYPE:  Closed-End Fund

LAUNCH DATE:  August 20, 1999

LAUNCH PRICE:  $1.00 per share
Warrants Exercise Price:  $1.00 per share
Secondary Offer Price:
10/15/2001  $1.20 per share
Rights Issue Price:
03/10/2005  $1.40 per share

POST SEGREGATION  VALUE FUND DEVELOPMENT FUND
NO. OF SHARES OUTSTANDING:
9/30/2015  55,652,768 54,549,676

NET ASSETS:
9/30/2015  $43,721,002 $25,232,957

NET ASSETS VALUE PER SHARE:
9/30/2015  $0.79  $0.46

SHARE PRICE:
9/30/2015  $0.57  $0.21

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS:  Barbados Stock Exchange (BSE)
  Trinidad & Tobago Stock Exchange (TTSE)

MANAGEMENT EXPENSES:
Manager:  0.75% per annum of the net assets of the Value Fund
  0.375% per annum of the net asset of the Development Fund
  Progress fee of 2% of the net proceeds of any non-income 
  generating property sold or leased at fair value

Investment Advisor:  0.75% per annum of the net assets of the Value Fund
  0.375% per annum of the net asset of the Development Fund
  Progress fee of 2% of the net proceeds of any non-income 
  generating property sold or leased at fair value

FUND VALUATIONS:  Monthly

INDEPENDENT PROPERTY
APPRAISALS:  Annually & Semi-Annually

NAV QUOTATIONS:  Updated Monthly
  Internet: www.fortressfund.com

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC Limited is a closed-end investment company registered with limited 
liability in Barbados under the provisions of the Mutual Funds Act of Barbados. On October 1, 2013, the Fund was 
split into a segregated cell company with two classes of shares, namely the Value Fund and the Development Fund 
shares. 

The investment objective of the Value Fund is to produce annual income and long term capital gains from a diversified 
portfolio of income producing properties in the Caribbean. It is expected that the Value Fund will pay out a minimum 
of 75% of its available distributable profits.

The investment objective of the Development Fund is to realise value in the medium term on its portfolio of 
development properties in the Caribbean, and return capital to shareholders. It is not expected that the Fund will 
pay a regular dividend. The Fund is authorised to invest in real estate, Caribbean listed shares or open-ended funds, 
foreign listed shares or open-ended funds, unlisted shares of Caribbean companies, and government securities.
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Directors & Administrators

DIRECTORS
Geoffrey Cave, C.B.E., B.C.H., L.L.D. (Hon) - Chairman
Paul Altman, B.C.H., L.L.D. (Hon)
C. Anthony Audain
Senator Sir Trevor Carmichael K.A., Q.C., G.C.M.
Maureen Davis
Terry Hanton
H.C. Algernon Leacock
John Williams

BANKER
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank 
(Barbados) Limited 
Broad Street
Bridgetown
St. Michael
Barbados

ATTORNEY AT LAW
Sir Henry Forde K.A., Q.C.
Juris Chambers
Fidelity House
Wildey Business Park
St. Michael
Barbados

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young
Worthing
Christ Church BB15008
Barbados 

INVESTMENT ADVISOR & PROPERTY MANAGER
Altman Real Estate
Property Consultancy Sercives Inc.
Derricks, St. James
Barbados
Tel: 246-432-0840
Internet: www.altman.com
Email: pcsi@altmanbarbados.com

FUND MANAGER
Fortress Fund Managers Limited
First Floor, Carlisle House
Hincks Street
Bridgetown
Barbados

Tel: (246) 431 2198
Fax: (246) 431 0514
Internet: www.fortressfund.com
Email: invest@fortressfund.com 

COMPANY SECRETARY
Hanna M. Chrysostom 
Broad Street
Bridgetown
St. Michael
Barbados

INDEPENDENT VALUER
Terra Caribbean 
Somerly
Worthing
Christ Church
Barbados

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
John Williams
H.C. Algernon Leacock
Roger Cave

AUDIT COMMITTEE
C. Anthony Audain
H.C. Algernon Leacock
John Williams

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE
C. Anthony Audain
Senator Sir Trevor Carmichael K.A., Q.C., G.C.M.
H.C. Algernon Leacock
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The Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC had a 
challenging year in 2015. While the Value Fund recorded 
a profit attributed to the shareholders of $976,338, the 
Development Fund recorded a loss of $1.5 million.

The Net Asset Value (NAV) of the Value Fund was $43.7 
million ($0.79 per share) after paying a dividend of 
$0.035 per share in December 2014 which equates to a 
return of 3.1% for the year. The NAV for the Development 
Fund declined from $26.9 million to $25.2 million ($0.46 
per share) resulting in a (-5.9 %) return.

The combined NAV is now $1.25 share which represents 
an overall decline of 3%. As was expected, the Value 
Fund produced a smaller positive return than in 2014 
and while the Development Fund had another decline in 
its NAV, it is significantly less than in 2014.

The operating performance of the Value Fund improved 
over the prior year with an increase of over $1 million. 
This increase was however offset by fair value losses 
of $7.4 million recorded. In the Value Fund, the CWBET 
property recorded a 23% decline in its appraised value, 
amounting to fair value losses of $7.3 million, which 
significantly impacted the Value Fund. The Development 
Fund recorded impairment losses of $720,988.

While the fair value losses in the Value Fund were 
significantly higher in 2015 than the prior year, this was 
concentrated in just two properties which suggests that 

Directors’ 
Report

overall the real estate market may hopefully be starting 
to find a bottom.

Value Fund
The Value Fund produced a smaller profit in 2015 which 
was due almost entirely to the fair value losses on the 
CWBET property investment. It should be noted that this 
is a non-cash charge and the Fund actually produced a 
12.2% net cash return from its operations.

The Value Fund’s largest asset is the 57 % share in the 
BET Joint Venture. The tenant has exited the building 
and on November 1st 2015, an agreement was reached 
with the tenant on an early termination of the lease. The 
settlement is both in the interest of the tenant and the 
Joint Venture who will have possession of the property 
sooner to commence the upgrade of the existing 
building and the re-development of the site.

The financial implications of the loss of a prime tenant 
of such a large property is significant and it will take 
considerable resources, effort and time to retrofit and 
upgrade the property for multi-tenant purposes.

The plans to commence these works are well advanced 
and work is expected to begin early in 2016. The short-
term and long-term impact on the rental income of the 
Value Fund relative to the old lease will be considerable 
as the previous tenant rented the entire site under a 
triple net lease. Going forward, it will more than likely 

Chairman, Geoffrey Cave



6

Directors’ Report

take almost a year to upgrade the existing property and 
further time for the building to become fully tenanted. 
During this time, the Joint Venture will incur all the costs 
of taxes, insurance, maintenance and security which 
were all previously borne by the tenant.

The independent valuation of the property done by 
Terra Caribbean has taken into account many of the new 
realities and our best estimates of what it will take to 
redevelop the property. The result is that the property 
has been revalued at $24.7 million. The Fund will seek to 
mitigate the several risks which may be associated with 
the redevelopment of such a large and old property.

We will be employing the best local professionals to 
manage the process. Despite a weak economy and excess 
capacity, the site presents some exciting prospects as a 
highly desirable commercial complex. Furthermore, the 
property has no debt, three strong financial partners, a 
lump-sum settlement payment from the tenant and a 
strong commitment from the principals to re-position 
the property as soon as possible back into an income 
producing asset.

The other investment properties in the Value Fund, 
namely the CS&C Joint Venture properties, Carlisle 
House and No. 24 Broad Street performed better than 
the prior year and we have a much higher degree of 
confidence on both the ongoing revenues and earnings 
from these assets.

The CS&C Joint Venture has assisted with considerable 
investment in upgrading the Cave Shepherd Broad 
Street Building. The building has been upgraded with 
new escalators, flooring, lighting, solar PV and air 
conditioning systems. As a result, the Joint Venture has 
received higher rental payments and extended lease 
terms which are both in the tenants’ and landlords’ best 
interest. We are in the final stages of the repayments of 
the loans used to purchase the Carters & Cave Shepherd 
properties (now less than $5 million, down from the 
original amount of $34.5 million) and so the Fund has 
the opportunity to either refinance these loans at much 
lower interest rates or receive higher cash inflows which 
will partially offset the losses from the rental revenue of 
the BET property.

The CWBET Property
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Bond Financing
The last tranche of the Property Fund Bond matured 
in July of 2015. This was refinanced with a new bond 
for $10.5 million with maturities of three, four and five 
years at rates of 4%, 4.5% and 5% respectively. This will 
significantly reduce the interest costs going forward 
as the interest rates on the original bond ranged from 
7% to 7.5%.The bond structure allows for roll-overs 
for each of the tranches and also allows for the Fund 
to raise an additional $4.5 million at any time under the 
existing bond infrastructure to enable the Fund to take 
advantage of future potential opportunities. This feature 
avoids the Fund having to bear unnecessary interest 
costs until additional income producing assets can be 
acquired. The bond has a final maturity of 2023.

Dividends
The Directors have declared a dividend of $0.03 on the 
Value Fund share for the year ended September 30th 
2015. The dividend equates to a 5.3% dividend yield 
based on the trading price of the Value Fund shares 
$0.57 per share as at November 30th 2015.

Trading Of Shares
The Value Fund shares last traded at $0.57 per share on 
the Barbados Stock Exchange which represents a 28% 

discount to the Fund’s Net Asset Value. We anticipated 
that the discount would have narrowed more especially 
given the attractive dividend yield, but we know the 
uncertainties surrounding the future of the CWBET 
Building will understandably have investors cautious.

In our view, for investors with Barbados dollars and a 
long-term time horizon, the current discount of the 
share price to net asset value and the current dividend 
yield makes for an attractive investment opportunity at 
these levels.

Development Fund
The Development Fund had a poor year although it was 
an improvement over the prior year.  The decline in the 
Fund’s NAV was $1.5 million compared to a decline of 
$3.6 million in 2014. The major reason for the decline 
was an impairment loss of $720,987. The net assets of 
the Fund are now $25.2 million and the stock market is 
pricing these assets at $13.6 million (i.e. a 54 % discount to 
NAV). This is a situation that the directors are committed 
to addressing by resolute action on the disposal of 
Development Fund assets and buying back shares.

It is useful to remind shareholders that the objective 
of the Development Fund is to hold the non-income 

New Cave Shepherd Food Lounge, Broad Street
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re-open in 2016 under a major hotel brand. This will 
hopefully result in a resumption of higher traffic through 
the development, property sales and construction which 
has come to a standstill because of the uncertainty. The 
Fund’s asset in Canouan is a prized property and we 
expect to make a very attractive return when it is sold.  
There has been no further progress on the sale of the 
lands at Rockley, Wotton, Holders Hill, Lion Castle or 
Apes Hill. All of these prime lots are listed with several of 
the leading local real estate agents.

The Development Fund shares continue to trade at a 
significant discount of 54% to its net asset value. A key 
part of our strategy is to use the proceeds from asset 
sales to buy-back shares on the stock exchange to 
reduce the discount. During the year 450,127 shares of 
the Development Fund were bought back at an average 
price of $0.24 per share for a total consideration of 
$107,225. The Fund is not expected to pay any dividends 
in the foreseeable future.

The shares of both Funds were re-listed on the 
Trinidad & Tobago Stock Exchange during the year but 
regrettably there has been no trading of the shares on 
that exchange to date. Both Funds continue to trade at 
wide discounts to NAV on the Barbados Stock Exchange 
(BSE) as shown in the table below.

As at November 30th 2015, the trading prices and 
discounts to NAV were as follows:

 Share Price NAV Discount
 (30/11/2015) (30/9/2015) to NAV
FCPF SCC – Value Fund Shares
 $0.57 $0.79 28%
FCPF SCC – Development Fund Shares
 $0.21 $0.46 54%

Looking Forward
The outlook for the global economy remains uncertain 
and uneven depending on the region, the country and 
its underlying fundamentals. Those who are dependent 
on the exports of energy and commodities are seeing 

producing assets held by the Fund and to seek to 
purposefully realise value from these assets through 
sale, joint venture and/or development over the medium 
term. The purpose was and still is not to “fire sale” the 
assets. We are pleased to report that we have achieved 
some asset sales during the year which includes two 
units at Villas on the Green and two lots at Lower 
Estate. Subsequent to the end of the financial year, we 
have reached agreement on the sale of four more lots 
at Lower Estate and the sale of the unit at Limegrove. 
One of the Lower Estate transactions for the purchase 
of two lots is under contract and the other sale for a 
further two lots is awaiting town planning confirmation. 
This is positive for the Fund and is an indication that the 
real estate market is starting to see some transactions 
which is most welcome after almost six years of very 
little activity.

The sales mentioned above are close to carrying values 
in the Fund’s books and will provide much needed cash 
to buy-back shares.

The new pool at Villas on the Green was completed 
during the year and the Fund is in the process of turning 
over the development to the VOTG Property Owners 
Association. This is positive for both the owners and 
the developer in that the owners can look after their 
own affairs. It is hoped that the remaining seven units 
will be sold over the next two years which would save 
the Development Fund approximately $160,000 in net 
annual costs in running this development.

Discussions were held with a joint venture partner to 
explore a small sub-division on the remaining lands 
which consists of 13 acres.  This subdivision will test the 
market for sale of lots now that the value of the undivided 
land is significantly below market rates for subdivided 
land.  We expect to conclude terms on the joint venture 
early in the New Year. This property has been written 
down by a further $500,000 (15%) this year.

The owners’ dispute in Canouan was finally resolved 
during 2015 and plans are underway to have the hotel 

Directors’ Report
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return to the pre-crisis days of high growth in the real 
estate sector and rising real estate prices. That said, the 
conditions now are much better than they have been for 
many years and low interest rates locally and globally will 
make mortgages and financing for real estate projects 
cheaper. Hopefully some of the recovery that has been 
seen in the U.S. and UK real estate markets will spill over 
on to our shores where prices are much lower now than 
at pre-crisis levels.

For the Development Fund, we expect a better year as 
the recent assets sales are finalised. For the Value Fund, 
it is going to be a challenging year as the re-development 
of the CWBET Building commences early in 2016 with no 
rental revenue to offset the costs. We expect that from 
2017 onwards this asset will be producing revenue again 
albeit at lower levels than in the past, which will be more 
in line with the reduced carrying value of the property.

With the removal of the minimum savings rates on 
deposits in commercial banks we expect there will 
be increased demand from investors seeking higher 
returns for their savings through mutual funds and 
other investment products and the Fortress Caribbean 
Property Fund Limited SCC shares should become a 
more attractive option for such investors.

We thank you our shareholders for your patience as we 
re-position the Fund for the future.

Geoffrey Cave
Chairman

Directors’ Report

depressed prices and huge pressure while the importers 
of such materials are having the equivalent of a tax ease. 

For the U.S. and the UK, their economies are doing well 
on the back of record low interest rates and now very 
low unemployment rates. This is certainly positive for 
the tourism dependent economies in the Caribbean 
like Barbados which are seeing increased arrivals as 
the airline industry enjoys rare profitability from strong 
demand and weak energy prices. This is helping a 
renewal in real estate sales for the upper-end second 
home market which is excellent news for Barbados. In 
several other parts of the world, particularly emerging 
markets, parts of Asia, Europe, Russia and Latin America, 
their story is quite different with falling currencies and 
slowing growth leading to reversals in capital flows and 
weaker stock markets.

Since the financial crisis, the central banks of the major 
world economies have engaged in a policy of extremely 
low interest rates and quantitative easing (QE) of levels 
not seen in the past. The U.S. Federal Reserve plans to 
soon start the process of raising interest rates again 
and uncertainty exists as to how the world, which is 
generally struggling from weak overall growth, will cope 
with rising interest rates.

In the region, the Caribbean economies are yet to 
recover from the global financial crisis and their debt 
levels have increased significantly in the past six years. 
This debt situation will not be easily resolved and low 
growth and high taxes are unlikely to support a close 
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Paul AltmanTerry Hanton 

During 2014/15 our objective was to find new income 
producing properties for the Value Fund and to divest 
Development Fund assets.  Last year we also set a 
secondary goal of buying back the Development Fund 
shares at below net asset value. Conditions remain very 
difficult in the local property market and achieving those 
goals has been challenging.

Development Fund
In respect of the Development Fund the Advisors 
focused on divesting the Lion Castle and Rockley Cane 
Garden assets in Barbados.  Marketing campaigns were 
implemented in Barbados and the properties are listed 
with all major agencies but no offers were achieved.  
However, two commercial lots at Lower Estate were 
sold during the year and a further four are reserved and 
set to go to contract.  Each of those sales will produce 
profits on sale.  

At Villas on the Green, two units were sold during the 
financial year. A central pool has been constructed with 
the goal of stimulating sales in the coming winter season.  
A process of selectively subdividing golf frontage lots 
in the residual 13 acre parcel has begun in partnership 
with C. O. Williams Construction.  The first phase will be 
five lots. Our partner will commit to the infrastructure 
once planning approval has been received.  These lots 
will be used to test the market for price and absorption.   
They have beautiful views and Cap Estate remains an 
area with considerable market appeal.   The golf course 
remains in receivership but is well maintained and is a 
major attraction on the island.

The Development Fund has also accepted an offer 
on its Limegrove villa, and this transaction should be 
completed in the first quarter of 2016.

We received planning approval for the subdivision of our 
Wotton Lands into six commercial lots and the roads 
and infrastructure will likely be put in place next year.  
These lots are being actively marketed by the real estate 
agency community.
  
Value Fund
As regards the Value Fund, the main focus has been 
on the CWBET site. The Board of the joint venture has 
agreed a surrender of the lease by Cable & Wireless 
one year early in consideration of a settlement payment 
from them of $5.9 million.  Plans are moving ahead for 
the renovation of the main building and discussions with 
potential tenants have been taking place.  Construction 
professionals have been appointed and the design work 
is ongoing. Based on market conditions for commercial 
rentals the Fund’s valuers have been understandably 
cautious about the speed at which the renovated 
building can be leased up.  Based on a cost estimate of 
a $9 million renovation budget they have reduced the 
value of the property by $7.3 million.

The property is for sale and is now exclusively listed 
with the largest commercial real estate company in the 
world, CBRE Group Inc. of New York.
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We have not yet received planning approval for the 
subdivision of the cricket field and whilst the delays 
are disappointing there are no major hurdles. The six 
lots which will be created should generate significant 
demand. In the meantime we have agreed to lease out 
the cricket ground so as to alleviate the maintenance 
costs.  The lease arrangement is short term and will allow 
us to offer the lots for sale as soon as the permission is 
received.

We have also continued to seek acquisitions of buildings 
with good income streams and remain in active 
discussion on a property in Grenada.  Other opportunities 
investigated did not meet investment thresholds. It 
remains very challenging to find good projects which do 
not also have very significant risk.

During the year we looked at several acquisitions 
including:
	 •	 a	retail	mall	in	Antigua
	 •	 potential	purchase	of	some	or	all	of	the	assets	of		
  another Caribbean property fund
	 •	 a	warehousing	complex	in	St	Lucia

The investment advisors and the Investment Committee 
reviewed these in detail but declined all of them.

We also conducted extensive discussions with two 
individuals who could bring important synergies to the 
Fund. These discussions are ongoing.

There has been some progress on potential divestments 
and there is an offer in place for one of the Funds’ 
commercial properties.

The attention to enhancing our existing assets has paid 
off.  Cave Shepherd in Bridgetown has undergone a major 
makeover including new air conditioning, photovoltaic 
electricity generation, new escalators, flooring, lighting 
and a brand new food court.  The new facilities were 
proudly opened by the Minister of Commerce and 
Industry in November.  All of these works, and those at 

Sunset Mall, have demonstrated significantly improved 
returns for both the tenant and the Fund as landlord.

General market conditions
There have been a number of very positive signs in the 
past few months which are a precursor to recovery in 
the property market.  Tourism is on the rebound and is 
producing record numbers of arrivals.  Foreign direct 
investment to the island is increasing and has now 
reached pre-recession levels. A number of territories are 
now offering “Citizenship by Investment” programmes 
but Barbados has resisted this trend in favour of its 
special and indefinite entry permits.

The most important development is the reduced cost 
of borrowing in Barbados, which in particular creates 
positive leveraging for real estate projects.  General 
commercial credit rates are down below 6% and for 
most projects this gears equity returns up into the mid 
teens. Indeed, Fortress was able to refinance its bond 
at much reduced rates, approximately 275 basis points 
lower.  This is the route to financing we will have to 
pursue in the future to fund new acquisitions given that 
the discount to NAV on the shares in both Funds has not 
rebounded as we would have expected.

Barbados will continue to struggle through oversupply 
in some sectors but there are already good signs in 
some subsectors such as warehousing.

Many commentators have pointed to a recovery in the 
Barbados economy including several prominent bankers. 
We echo those comments whilst acknowledging that the 
property sector may lag the general recovery.  We are 
however confident that there can be an improvement 
in the number of transactions undertaken by the Fund.

Terry Hanton    Paul Altman
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The Board of Directors of Fortress Caribbean Property 
Fund Limited SCC is committed to exercising corporate 
governance practices that enhance all stakeholders’ 
value and promote the long-term growth and financial 
viability of the Company.  The Company adheres to all 
legal and regulatory requirements, guidelines and 
recommendations applicable to it as outlined by the 
Barbados and Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchanges and 
the Financial Services Commission and the Trinidad and 
Tobago Securities and Exchange Commission.

Corporate Governance

Geoffrey Cave is currently Non-Executive Chairman of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited 
SCC.  Mr. Cave was first elected Chairman of the Board of Directors in 1999. Mr. Cave chairs the 
Boards of Cave Shepherd & Co. Limited, Fortress Fund Managers Limited, DGM Financial Group of 
Companies, Duty Free Caribbean (Holdings) Ltd, and Signia Financial Group Inc.  

Mr. Cave served as an Independent Senator of Barbados in the Upper House from October 2009 
until February 2013.  In 2007, the University of the West Indies conferred on him an Honorary Degree 
of Doctor of Laws (LLD) and in the Queen’s New Year’s Honours List in 2003, he was appointed 
Commander of the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire. His distinguished career in business 
in Barbados and the region was recognized in 2001 when he was honoured with the Caribbean 
Master Entrepreneur Award. 

Mr. Cave holds a B. Comm. from McGill University in Canada.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Non-Executive Chairman 1999

Paul Altman has served the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC since 1999.  

Mr. Altman serves as director on a number of companies including Altman Real Estate, Limegrove 
Lifestyle Centre, and Insurance Corporation of Barbados Ltd.  He also serves as the Chairman of the 
Campus Council of the University of the West Indies, Cave Hill Campus.  He is a Past President of the 
Barbados National Trust and is now a member of the Task Force on the Preservation of Barbados’ 
Built Heritage. 

He has been involved in real estate for the past 40 years and in recent years, has been at the forefront 
of developments in the luxury residential market.  He was instrumental in the highly successful Royal 
Westmoreland golf residential community, where he held the post of Deputy Chairman.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Non-Executive Director 1999

R. Geoffrey Cave, 
CBE, BCH, 
Hon. LLD (UWI)
Non-Executive 
Chairman 
Born 1942 

Mr. Paul Altman 
GCM, BCH, JP, 
Hon. LLD (UWI)
Non-Executive 
Director 
Born 1948 

BOARD COMPOSITION & STRUCTURE
The Board is comprised of knowledgeable and 
experienced directors.  The maximum number of 
Directors permitted by the Company’s By-Laws is ten 
(10) with a minimum of three (3).  The Board currently 
consists of eight (8) members; five (5) of whom are non-
executive and three (3) are independent.  

The following outlines the biographical details, 
experience and shareholdings of the Directors: 
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Board of Directors & Corporate Secretary

Anthony Audain joined the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC in 2006.  He is 
Chairman of the Audit and Corporate Governance & Nomination Committees.

Mr. Audain currently serves as a director on DGM Financial Group of Companies.  Mr. Audain was the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Nation Group of Companies until September, 2008.  

He is the Managing Partner of Aâstra Law Chambers and heads its Commercial, Corporate Law and 
Value Added Tax (VAT) Practice.  His practice is directed at advising public corporations, officers,  
directors and insurers on a range of legal issues.  

He holds a Master in Business Administration from Cranfield School of Management in the United 
Kingdom.

NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Independent Director 2006

Sir Trevor Carmichael joined the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC in 1999.  He 
is a member of the Corporate Governance & Nomination Committee.    

Sir Trevor serves as director on a number of boards including Insurance Corporation of Barbados 
Limited, First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Limited and First Citizens Investment Services (Barbados) 
Limited.  

Sir Trevor was called to the Middle Temple Bar in London and the Barbados Bar.  He is a member of 
the International Bar Association and a Committee member of the Inter-American Bar Foundation 
as well as an associate member of the Canadian Bar Association.  He also holds membership in the 
International Tax Planning Association.

Sir Trevor was knighted in the 2013 Independence Honours List and he also serves as an Independent 
Senator in the Senate of Barbados.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Independent Director 1999

Maureen Davis joined the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC in 1999.  

Ms. Davis currently serves as Director of Cave Shepherd & Co. Limited and the Tourism 
Development Corporation and is a Council Member of the Barbados Museum and Historical 
Society.  

She is currently the Chief Development Officer of Duty Free Caribbean (Holdings) Ltd, a position 
she has held since that company’s formation in 2000.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Non-Executive Director 1999

C. Anthony Audain, 
B.A. LL.B, MBA 
Independent 
Director
Born 1953 

Sir Trevor 
Carmichael
KA LVO, QC 
Independent 
Director
Born 1945

Maureen D. Davis
Non-Executive 
Director
Born 1964

Terence Hanton joined the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC in 1999.  He is 
a Chartered Accountant and Chartered Valuer who specialises in consultancy services to the real 
estate and hospitality sectors in Barbados.  He has over ten (10) years’ experience in conducting 
valuations for residential and commercial properties.

Mr. Hanton is also a member and accredited valuer of the Barbados Estate Agents & Valuers 
Association (BEAVA) and previously held the position of Vice President of this organisation.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Non-Executive Director 1999

Terence M. Hanton 
F.C.A, MRICS
Non-Executive 
Director
Born 1955
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Board of Directors & Corporate Secretary

Algernon Leacock joined the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC in 2009.  He is 
a member of the Audit, Corporate Governance & Nomination and Investment Committees.  

Mr. Leacock serves as director on several boards including Trident Insurance Company Limited, 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital and Sansa Corporation (Barbados) Inc.   

He holds a BA in Economics from the University of Western Ontario, London, Canada; a B. Comm. 
from the University of Windsor, Windsor, Canada and an Executive MBA from the University of the 
West Indies, Cave Hill Campus.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Independent Director 2009

Hanna Chrysostom was appointed as Corporate Secretary of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund 
Limited SCC in 2013.  She is responsible for ensuring the integrity of the Property Fund’s governance 
framework and as In-House Counsel, she also offers legal and regulatory advice on matters and 
conducts legal research for the benefit of the Company.

Ms. Chrysostom is admitted to practice as an Attorney-at-Law in Barbados and Trinidad & 
Tobago.  She has had a diverse legal career with over ten (10) years of experience in corporate and 
commercial law, and litigation. She has worked in private practice and as in-house counsel for a 
major international telecommunications company.

Ms. Chrysostom holds a Masters of Business Administration from the University of Durham, UK.

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Trinidadian Corporate Secretary 2013

John Williams was appointed to the Board of Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC in 
2007.  He is a member of the Audit and Investment Committees. 

Mr. Williams currently serves as Chief Executive Officer and Director for Cave Shepherd & Co. 
Limited.  Mr. Williams serves as a Director on the Boards of Bridgetown Cruise Terminal Inc., Duty 
Free Caribbean (Holdings) Ltd, Signia Financial Group Inc. and Fortress Fund Managers Limited.   

Mr. Williams has over 25 years’ experience in senior management positions in both services 
and manufacturing industries.  In 2011, he was appointed Chairman of the Barbados Private 
Sector Association, a position he held until January 2014.  Previously, he has served as Chairman 
of the Barbados Investment & Development Corporation, President of the Barbados Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry and Deputy President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Barbados.

Mr. Williams is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales (FCA) and 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados (ICAB)

 NATIONALITY POSITION WITH FORTRESS CARIBBEAN PROPERTY FUND LIMITED SCC DATE OF FIRST ELECTION
 Barbadian Non-Executive Director 2007

H.C. Algernon 
Leacock
B. Comm., MBA
Independent 
Director
Born 1957

Hanna M. 
Chrysostom,
LLB, MBA
Group Corporate 
Secretary
Born 1977

John M. B. Williams, 
FCA
Non-Executive 
Director
Born 1959
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Directors’ shareholdings in Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC as at September 30th 2015 and as at 
December 15th 2015 are as follows:

Directors’ record of attendance at Board and Committee meetings are reflected in the table below:

The Board’s key responsibilities which its exercises 
through decision making and oversight are strategic 
planning, risk management, succession planning, 
shareholder communications and public disclosures, 
corporate governance, legal and regulatory compliance 
and performance evaluations.  The position description 
for the Chairman is clearly defined.

The Board determines its own organization. The Board 
has Audit, Corporate Governance & Nomination and 
Investment Committees to assist it in fulfilling its duties.    

Note: There was no change in directors’ shares between the period October 1st 2015 and December 15th 2015.

BOARD OPERATIONS

 R. G. Cave 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000

 P. Altman 659,920 659,920 659,920 659,920

 C.A. Audain   26,000 26,000 26,000 26,000

 Sir T. Carmichael 26,333 26,333 26,333 26,333

 M. Davis 21,506 21,506 21,506 21,506

 T. Hanton 7,200 7,200 7,200 7,200

 H.C.A Leacock NIL NIL NIL NIL

 J.M.B. Williams 17,000 17,000 17,000 17,000

 R. G. Cave 3/3    3/3

 P. Altman 3/3    3/3

 C.A. Audain 3/3 4/4 2/2  9/9

 Sir T. Carmichael 3/3  2/2  5/5

 M. Davis 3/3    3/3

 T. Hanton 3/3    3/3

 H.C.A. Leacock 3/3 4/4 2/2 1/1 10/10

 J.M.B. Williams 3/3 4/4  1/1 8/8

 Shares as at 30-Sep-15 Shares as at 15-Dec-15 Shares as at 30-Sep-15 Shares as at 15-Dec-15 

 Value Fund Shares Value Fund Shares  Development Fund Shares Development Fund Shares

 Board Audit Committee Corporate Governance Investment Committee Total
 Meetings Meetings & Nomination Meetings
   Committee Meetings

Directors’ Shareholdings

During 2015 the Board had three (3) formal meetings. 
The Board manages an annual schedule of critical items 
designed to ensure that it fulfils its obligations.  The 
Board reviewed and approved financial statements, final 
dividend payments and investment opportunities for 
the Company. The Board also reviewed and managed 
Company risk and received reports on the work carried 
out by its Audit, Corporate Governance & Nomination 
and Investment Committees.
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Corporate Governance

ONGOING DIRECTOR DEVELOPMENT
During 2015 ongoing Directors’ education focused 
on anti-money laundering and terrorist financing 
and implementation of the Barbados Stock Exchange 
Corporate Governance Recommendations.  The Board is 
committed to ongoing education of its Directors.
 

BOARD EVALUATIONS
In 2015 the Board undertook its annual performance 
evaluation.  The Board delegated this function to the 
Corporate Governance & Nomination Committee 
with the assistance of the Corporate Secretary.  The 
performance evaluation addressed the performance 
and effectiveness of the individual directors and the 
Board’s performance as a whole.  

The performance evaluation was conducted 
electronically and results of the survey were submitted 
by each Director on a confidential basis to the Corporate 
Secretary who compiled a report.  The survey confirmed 
that the Board is operating effectively and the report 
was submitted to the Board for discussion.  

BOARD COMMITTEES
There are three (3) committees of the Board – the Audit 
Committee, the Corporate Governance & Nomination 
Committee and the Investment Committee.  These 
Committees play an integral part in the governance 
process of the Company in that they assist the Board 
with the proper discharge of is functions by providing 
an opportunity for more in-depth discussions.  The 
Committees are required to regularly report back to the 
Board on findings, assessments and proposed courses 
of action.   The position descriptions for the Chairmen of 
the Committees are clearly defined.  

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Members: C. Anthony Audain, Chairman
   H.C. Algernon Leacock
   John M.B. Williams

The majority of the members of the Audit Committee are 
independent directors.  An independent member is an 
individual who meets the independence requirements 
of the Company’s Corporate Governance Policy.  The 
majority of members are financially literate with a 
sound understanding of the accounting principles and 
possess experience in analysing and evaluating financial 
statements.  

The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing 
the external audit process and managing all aspects of 
the relationship with the External Auditors.  It provides a 
direct channel of communication between the Auditors 
and the Board and assists the Board in ensuring that the 
audit is conducted in a thorough, objective and cost-
effective manner.  The Committee also reviews interim 
and audited financial statements and oversees the 
Internal Audit function, reviewing the Internal Auditor’s 
assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Property Fund’s internal controls, legal and regulatory 
compliance and risk management.

AUDIT COMMITTEE OPERATIONS
The principal business for 2015 included:
	 •	 Reviewing	and	approving	the	external	audit	plan	
  and timetable and approving external audit fees;
	 •	 Reviewing	and	approving	the	internal	audit	plan		
  and approving internal audit fees;
	 •	 Reviewing	and	recommending	for	approval	to		
  the Board interim and annual audited financial  
  statements;
	 •	 Reviewing	and	recommending	to	the	Board	for		
  amendment the Risk and Operational Risk Policies;
	 •	 Reviewing	and	recommending	to	the	Board	for		
  amendment the Audit Committee’s Charter;
	 •	 Reviewing	and	assessing	responses	to	requests	for		
  quotations from external auditors;
	 •	 Conducting	its	annual	performance	evaluation.
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AUDIT FEES
Audit Fees for the Property Fund are as follows:

 2015 2014
 (000’s) (000’s)
Audit fees $40 $54
Tax fees $6 $4
TOTAL $46 $58

THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE & 
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Members: C. Anthony Audain, Chairman
   Sir Trevor Carmichael K.A., Q.C., G.C.M.
   H.C. Algernon Leacock

The members of the Corporate Governance & Nomination 
Committee are independent directors.  An independent 
member is an individual who meets the independence 
requirements of the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Policy.

The Corporate Governance & Nomination Committee 
develops and recommends to the Board policies and 
procedures to establish and maintain good corporate 
governance practices.  The Committee is also responsible 
for reviewing and advising the Board on the nomination 
and appointment of Directors and assists the Board in 
creating a culture of honesty, integrity, transparency 
and accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE & 
NOMINATION COMMITTEE OPERATIONS
The Committee’s principal business for 2014 included:
	 •	 Review	and	recommending	for	amendment		to	the	
  Board various Company policies and Committee 
  charters;
	 •	 Reviewing	compliance	with	legal	and	regulatory		
  requirements;
	 •	 Overseeing	and	conducting	the	Board	and		 	
  Committee performance evaluations.

THE INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
Members:  H.C. Algernon Leacock, Chairman
   John M.B. Williams
   Roger M. Cave

The members of the Investment Committee are 
comprised of Board members and a representative of 
Fortress Fund Managers Limited.    

The Investment Committee assists the Board with its 
oversight of the investment function of the Property 
Fund.  The Committee evaluates investment, acquisition, 
joint venture and divesture transactions in which 
the Property Fund engages as part of its investment 
strategies for the Development and Value Funds.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE OPERATIONS
The Committee’s principal business for 2015 included:
	 •	 Establishing	and	recommending	for	approval		
  by the Board the Investment Committee Charter; 
	 •	 Reviewing	and	recommending	various	investment		
  opportunities, if any, to the Board; and
	 •	 Conducting	its	annual	performance	evaluation.	

Corporate Governance
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The Fund owns a 57% share in The BET Joint Venture 
that owns this property.  Cable & Wireless had leased 
back the building for a fifteen year term, ending in 
October 2016, however an agreement was reached on 
November 1, 2015 to terminate the lease one year early 
in consideration for a settlement payment of $5.9 million 
from Cable & Wireless.  

During the twelve months ended September 30, 2015, 
the BET Joint Venture earned $5.5 million (2014 - $5.3 
million) in gross rental income.

The independent valuer has reduced the value of the 
property after taking account of the agreed lump 
sum payment on termination of the lease, the cost of 
refurbishing the existing buildings during the coming 
year and a period of vacancy for refurbishment and 
lease up.  The valuers have revalued the building at $24.7 
million (2014 - $32.0 million) resulting in a fair value loss 
of $7,300,000 (2014 - $2,500,000).

As a result of the substantial fair value loss, the joint 
venture has made a net loss after interest of $2 million 
compared to $2.6 million in profit in 2014.

Cable & Wireless have also agreed to enter into a 10 year 
long term lease in respect of the cell tower.

The CWBET Building

Location - Wildey, Barbados
Fair Market Value - $24.7 million
Tenantable Space - 68,235 square feet (main building)
Property Type - Commercial

A team of construction professionals has been engaged 
to advise on the refurbishment of the main building. 
Plans are progressing well to ensure the refurbishment 
commences in early 2016 with a view to making the 
building tenantable early in the next financial year.  
Work on the technical studies required for a planning 
application to develop the cricket field and ancillary 
lands is also complete and the planning application 
for the subdivision of these lands has been submitted. 
Terms have been agreed to enter into a tenant repairing 
lease on the cricket field which is cancellable when the 
physical subdivision of lots commences.  The lease will 
not provide significant rent but will relieve the joint 
venture of the maintenance costs.

In parallel the BET Board is still seeking the sale of the 
entire property, or parts of it, and has listed the property 
exclusively with CBRE Group Inc. in New York.

The Board is confident that the subdivided lots will 
generate significant interest from buyers because of 
their excellent locations. The market for renting space 
in the renovated main building is challenging and the 
valuation recognises caution in relation to the leasing up 
of the building. 

Value Fund
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Value Fund

No. 24 Broad Street is in the centre of Bridgetown.  It 
encompasses 14,000 square feet of office and retail 
space.  The building is leased on a triple net to Duty Free 
Caribbean who sublets the ground floor to Colombian 
Emeralds International on a seven year lease ending 
August 2016.  Discussions have commenced on the 
renewal of this lease for a further five years, with the 
landlord agreeing to do some upgrades.

The property earned $1.7 million in gross rents, ($1.6 
million - 2014) and net income from this property 
increased to $0.76 million from $0.51 million in 2014. The 
valuers maintained the property value at $11.0 million. 
The main reason for the increase in net property income 
is a reduction in property expenses with several one-off 
expenses having been incurred in the prior year.

The No. 24 Broad Street

Carlisle House

Location - Bridgetown, Barbados

Fair Market Value - $8.5 million

Tenantable Space - 14,000 square feet

Property Type - Commercial

Location - Bridgetown, Barbados

Fair Market Value - $11.0 million

Tenantable Space - 42,490 square feet

Property Type - Commercial

The Fund received $967,000 in rental income in the year 
under review.

The valuers have maintained the value of the property 
at $8.5 million.

Occupancy of the building increased from 78% to 81% 
but the top floor remains difficult to rent, which is 
consistent with increasing vacancy in Bridgetown.  
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Value Fund

The Chattel Village is one of the Fund’s most visible and 
attractive assets.  Located in the heart of Holetown on 
the West Coast it is highly in demand by prospective 
tenants and remains fully tenanted.  

The property earned gross rental income of $537,000 
(2014 - $529,000) as the property was fully occupied 
during the year. This property presents well and has 
been successful for the Fund. During the year there 

Chattel Village

Location - Holetown, Barbados

Fair Market Value - $1.18 million

Tenantable Space - 8,000 square feet

Property Type - Commercial

was an increase in net property income as a result of 
a reduction in repair and maintenance as well as utility 
cost.

The property is leased from Sunset Crest Property 
Owners Inc until August 2026. This is a lease hold interest 
and there is a downgrade of $95,000 (2014 -$180,000) 
in the current year commensurate with the reduced 
remaining term of the lease.



22

The Fund holds a 24% interest in the CS&C Joint Venture, 
a real estate partnership, which owns land and buildings 
at five locations in Barbados.  These properties were 
previously owned by Carter Holdings Limited and Cave 
Shepherd & Co. Limited.  The properties represent a 
diversified portfolio of prime real estate comprising land 
and 250,000 square feet of retail, office and warehouse 
space.

Four of the locations are leased to major retailers in 
Barbados on long term leases.  The fifteen-year lease 
of the Cave Shepherd building in Broad Street that 
commenced in 2005 has been extended a further 
10 years and expires in 2024. The joint venture had 
previously committed to investing in major capital 
projects including a new air conditioning system and a 
top floor renovation.  During the year additional works 
were agreed to including replacement of the existing 
escalators, installation of additional downward bound 
escalators as well as upgrade of floors, ceiling and 
lighting.  

These capital works which have to date cost $4.9 million 

Carter’s Buildings and
Cave Shepherd Building

Location - Various locations, Barbados

Fair Market Value - $65.4 million (entire joint venture)

Property Type - Commercial

have transformed the property into the most modern 
retail facility in Bridgetown.  It has met with widespread 
approval and the tenant is already experiencing higher 
sales and significantly lower utility costs.  The food court 
on the top floor has been a great success.  The whole 
project is a blueprint for a landlord and tenant working 
closely together to enhance their returns and to produce 
a sustainable competitive asset.

The lease contains provisions for rent increments 
commensurate with the capital expenditure.  The 
properties have increased in value to $65.4 million, 
resulting in a fair value gain of $847,000 in 2015 
($991,000 loss in 2014). The final series of improvements 
are planned for 2016 and the joint venture is in the final 
stage of negotiations with the tenant to fund these 
works.

During the year ended September 30, 2015 the Fund’s 
proportionate share of the joint venture’s net income 
amounted to $1.48 million (2014 – $0.91 million).  The 
Fund’s interest in the buildings is $15,684,000 (2014 - 
$14,544,000).

Value Fund
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Value Fund

The Fund invested $936,000 for 24% of the equity 
in a joint venture, set up with the CS&C partners and 
acquired a mall in Sunset Crest, St. James.  The purchase 
was completed during the year 2009 and the property 
was rented on a 10-year lease to Duty Free Caribbean.

The building was renovated in 2012 and underwent 
a major repair of the roof in readiness for a solar 
photovoltaic project which has reduced the tenants 
operating costs significantly.

Sunset Mall

Location - Sunset Crest, St. James

Fair Market Value -$9.8 million (entire joint venture)

Property Type - Commercial Building

The property has maintained its value of $9.8 million.  

During the year ended September 30, 2015 the Fund’s 
proportionate share of the joint ventures net income 
including fair value gains amounted to $216,384 (2014 – 
$265,411).
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Development Fund

During 2008 the Fund completed the purchase of a three 
bedroom villa overlooking the polo field at Waterhall, 
St. James for $1.4 million.  It has been furnished and is 
available for sale. The property has been leased and the 
rent assists in defraying the holding costs and makes a 
small return.  

Apes Hill Polo Villa

Location - Waterhall, Barbados

Carrying Value -$1.3 million - Furnished

Property Type - Residential Unit

The valuers maintained the value of the property of $1.35 
million. The property, including furniture, was tested for 
value impairment, based on a valuation carried out, and 
as a result the net realisable value has been reduced to 
$1.3 million, resulting in an impairment loss of $20,000 
(2014 - $184,952).

This 20,800 square foot lot is located next to the sixth tee 
at the Apes Hill Golf Club. Plans have been developed for 
a four-bedroom house and planning approval has been 
received from Town & Country Planning and from the 
Architectural Review Board of Apes Hill.  The property is 
currently being offered for sale in accordance with the 
Fund’s stated goal to reduce dependence on residential 
properties, and with the construction of the club house 
we expect to see activity in this market.

Apes Hill Land

Location - Apes Hill, Barabdos

Carrying Value -$874,000

Property Type - Undeveloped Residential Lands

The valuers maintained the appraised value of $0.95 
million.  Based on this valuation the real estate available 
for re-sale is included at its net realisable value of 
$874,000. There was an impairment loss of $176,000 in 
2014.

The Board is optimistic about this asset and the Apes 
Hill Polo Villa, based on the construction of the nearby 
clubhouse at Apes Hill which will be completed in mid-
2016.
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Development Fund

This 3.5-acre site has expansive views over Holder’s Polo 
Field, the Sandy Lane Green Monkey Golf Course and the 
west coast.  The Fund has no immediate plans for the 
property but during the year the modest cottage on the 
site was demolished to reduce carrying costs. 

The adjoining Holders House is also on the market. 
Agents conducted several tours during the year and 

Holder’s Site

Location - Holder’s, Barbados

Carrying Value -$1.38 million

Size - 158,000 square feet

Property Type - Residential

one offer was received and agreed but the prospective 
purchaser was unable to complete the purchase. 

The valuers reduced the value of the property from 
$1.6 million to $1.5 million. Based on this valuation the 
real estate available for re-sale was adjusted to its 
net realisable value of $1.38 million, resulting in an 
impairment loss of $92,000 (2014 - $428,000).
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Development Fund

This 18-acre site is adjacent to the third and seventh hole 
at the Cap Estate Golf Club in St. Lucia.  A master planned 
community was approved for 72 homes and the Fund 
has developed 20 townhouses in Phase I of this plan. The 
20 townhouses were completed in 2008 with 13 units 
sold by September 2015. 

During the financial year two units were sold resulting in 
a small book loss of $78,869 (2014 - $19,475).  There are 
now seven units available.  Of these five are rented, one 
is available for rent and the last one is the show unit.

The development incurred $164,085 (2014 - $268,707) in 
property, maintenance and upgrade, administrative and 
other holding costs, net of rental income of $156,418 (2014 
- $202,773).  Together with debt service this resulted 
in a net loss after interest and before impairment of 
$247,587 (2014 - $322,067) from the Villas on the Green 
development.

Villas on the Green

Location - Cap Estate, St. Lucia

Carrying Value - $6.3 million

Property Type - Residential Development

Real estate available for re-sale is carried at lower of cost 
or net realisable value. The valuers reduced the land value 
from US$1.65 million to US$1.4 million and maintained 
the value of the two and three bedroom townhouses 
at US$250,000 and US$320,000 respectively. Based 
on these values the Villas on the Green property was 
subsequently adjusted to its net realisable value resulting 
in an impairment loss of $516,750 (2014 - $114,615) being 
recognised. 

A central pool has been built in order to meet obligations 
to owners and to stimulate future sales.

The property is carried at $3.7 million for the remaining 
townhouses and $2.6 million for the undeveloped lands.
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Development Fund

In 2008 the Fund completed the purchase of 6.2 acres 
of land on the ABC Highway with permission for offices. 
Planning approval has been received to subdivide the 
property into six lots. The lots are now being marketed 
for sale individually.

Worthing Great House site is ear marked as Phase II and 
is to be developed as a new cluster called Cane Garden. 
Planning permission was recently received for the 
construction of 26 townhouses and a Quantity Surveyor 
has been retained to cost the scheme.  The agency 
community will be invited to comment on market 
conditions before a decision is taken to proceed.  The 
Fund may look for joint venture partners based on an 
assessment of the market

The Rockley Cane Garden development spent $17,863 
(2014 - $17,419) in professional fees in relation to the 
planned development, as well as property, administrative 
and other holding costs.

Wotton Lands

Rockley Cane Garden

Location - Wotton, Barbados

Carrying Value -$5.52 million

Property Type - Undeveloped Commercial Lands

Location - Rockley, Barbados

Carrying Value -$1.84 million

Property Type - Undeveloped Lands

The valuers maintained the appraised value of the land 
at $6 million. Based on this valuation the real estate 
available for re-sale is included at its net realisable 
value of $5.52 million. There was an impairment loss of 
$690,000 in 2014.

Real estate available for re-sale is carried at lower of 
cost or net realisable value. At year end an independent 
valuation was performed on the land and there was no 
change in the valuation. The Cane Garden site is included 
at its net realisable value of $1.84 million, resulting 
in an impairment loss of nil (2014 - $460,000) being 
recognised. 

The golf course at Rockley has been sold to a consortium 
of investors who have ambitious plans to reposition 
Rockley.  The Fund chose to invest $10,000 in shares in 
that entity.

The property is listed for sale and sign posted as such.
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This lot was acquired at the Lion Castle Polo Development 
in 2005.  It overlooks the northern polo goal and sits on 
top of a coral stone escarpment with panoramic views 
of the south coast.

Plans have been developed for the lot which has planning 
permission. The Board has agreed to offer the property 
for sale.

Lion Castle Lot 21

Location - Lion Castle, Barbados

Carrying Value - $782,000

Property Type - Undeveloped Residential Lands

Real estate available for re-sale is carried at lower of 
cost or net realisable value. The valuers reduced the 
appraised value from $0.9 million to $0.85 million.  Based 
on this valuation the real estate available for re-sale was 
adjusted to its net realisable value of $782,000, resulting 
in an impairment loss of $46,000 (2014 - $122,000).

Development Fund

The Fund owns Limegrove Hillside Villa 6.  The Fund rents 
the unit to defray costs. The unit is listed for sale with 
multiple real estate agents and an offer of US$675,000 
was accepted after the year end.

Limegrove Hillside Villa

Location - Limegrove, Barbados

Carrying Value - $1.15 million

Property Type - Residential Unit

At year end an independent valuation was performed on 
the villa and the valuers reduced their appraised value 
from $1.3 million to $1.25 million. Based on this valuation 
the real estate available for re-sale was adjusted to its 
net realisable value of $1.15 million, resulting in a $46,000 
impairment loss (2014 - $46,000).
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Development Fund

The Fund holds 24% interest in these lands through 
the CS&C Joint Venture.  It is a 13-acre site in Lower 
Estate with planning permission for sub-division to 
16 commercial lots.  The site is sub-divided to include 
roads and services. During the year the joint venture 
completed the sale of the first two subdivided lots. 

The lands are included in the books of the joint venture 
as real estate available for re-sale at adjusted cost since 
the lots are being actively marketed for resale. The Fund’s 

Lower Estate Lands

Location - Lower Estate, Barbados

Carrying Value - $7.5 million (entire joint venture, 

unsold lands)

Property Type - Commercial

interest in the land at September 2015 is $1.8 million. 
Subsequent to the year end the joint venture accepted 
an offer to sell two additional lots and the joint venture 
is in negotiation with another prospective purchaser for 
a further two lots.  These sales are evidence of a gradual 
pick up in the warehouse market.

The lots are moving well and this will provide much 
needed liquidity to the joint venture partners.
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The Rockley Joint Venture is a 50:50 joint venture with 
Dowding Estates and Trading Company Ltd. The joint 
venture presently owns the central facilities site (having 
sold the Worthing Great House site to the Fund)

The 2.5-acre site, formerly the central facilities location, 
remains undeveloped and is earmarked as Phase III of 
the development. The re-development is in its early 
stages, and the date for the commencement of this 
phase has not yet been determined but subdivision 
approval is in place.

During the year $49,066 (2014 - $42,401) was spent 
by each partner of the joint venture on maintenance, 

Rockley Central Area

Location - Rockley, Barbados

Carrying Value - $2.07 million (entire joint venture, 

remaining land)

Property Type - Undeveloped Lands

property, administrative and other holding costs. Gross 
rental income of $46,050 (2014 - $42,977) was earned to 
defray such costs.

Real estate available for re-sale is carried at lower of 
cost or net realisable value. The valuers maintained the 
valuation of the site at $2.25 million.  The 
Rockley Central facilities is included in the Fund at 50% of 
its net realisable value, being $1.0 million.  There was no 
impairment loss for this year (2014 - $345,000 realised 
by each partner).

The Fund’s share of the net assets is $0.756 million.

Development Fund

The Fund purchased a 35% interest in this 3.92-acre site 
with spectacular views of the Grenadines.

The land has been classified as an investment in an 

Canouan Land

Location - Canouan Island, St. Vincent & 

The Grenadines

Carrying Value - US $4.3 million (entire site)

Property Type - Undeveloped Residential Lands

associated company and is carried at cost which is lower 
than its net realisable value. The Fund’s portion of the 
cost is BBD $3.0 million. The property is being offered 
for sale by Canouan Realty at a price of US $8.5 million.
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Terra Caribbean (Barbados) Limited 
‘Somerley’, Worthing, Christ Church, BB15009, Barbados 
Tel: (246) 434-9000 I Fax: (246) 430-3758 
 
Newton House, Battaleys, St. Peter, BB26094, Barbados 
Tel: (246) 422-2618 I Fax: (246) 422-5366  
 

 
 

 
 
October 1, 2015 
 
The Board of Directors 
Fortress Caribbean Property Fund 
Carlisle House 
Bridgetown 
 
Dear Members of the Board, 
 
As instructed we have conducted appraisals of the properties of the Fortress Caribbean Property Fund and 
we have formed an opinion of their market values as at July 31, 2015 and September 30, 2015 (BET Building 
only).  In accordance with the International Valuation Standards Council (2011), market value is defined as:  

 

 The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after property marketing and where the 
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 

 
We understand that you will be using these values to calculate the net asset value of the fund as at the 
valuation date.  We have assumed that all information provided by the Property Managers representing the 
Fund is accurate and this information has been included in our report.  Our opinion is subject to the limiting 
conditions attached to the detailed reports. 

 
Generally, the three accepted approaches for estimating market value of real property have been applied.  
These indicators of value were reconciled to arrive at the final value estimate for each property.  In the case 
of the leasehold property, Chattel Village, the net economic benefit of the lease was capitalized in order to 
estimate the value.  

The properties appraised were: 

•  BET Building    
•  Broad Street 24    
•  Carlisle House     
•  Chattel Village     
  
In our opinion, the combined market value of the above listed properties at the effective date is 
$45,375,000. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Andrew W. Mallalieu, MRICS, CPA 
Chief Executive 
 





 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
As at September 30, 2015 

 

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved by the Board of Directors on December 22, 2015 
 

 

 

  ___________________________ Director                ______________________________ Director 

  

  

 

 

Note 

2015 

$ 

 2014 

$ 

Value Fund     

Assets     

Investment properties 5 45,375,000  52,770,000 

Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements 8 16,699,222  14,999,096 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 8,000  8,000 

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 11 385,345  280,919 

Due from related parties 17 96,447  – 

Cash and cash equivalents  10 3,790,326  2,025,728 

     

Total assets  66,354,340  70,083,743 

     

Liabilities     

Loans payable  13 10,580,000  10,362,387 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12 431,126  565,854 

Security and advance deposits  360,574  345,061 

Due to related parties 17 –  64,501 

     

Total liabilities  11,371,700  11,337,803 

     

Total assets less liabilities  54,982,640  58,745,940 

     

Equity     

Capital and reserves attributable to the Fund 

shareholders 

 

   

Share capital 18 37,209,540  37,209,540 

Retained earnings  6,511,462  7,482,967 

     

Total shareholders’ funds  43,721,002  44,692,507 

     

Non-controlling interests 7 11,261,638  14,053,433 

     

  54,982,640  58,745,940 

     

Net asset value per share 19 0.79  0.80 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  

 

 

 

                                 
  



 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position…continued 
As at September 30, 2015 

 

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

Approved by the Board of Directors on December 22, 2015 
 

   

 
___________________________ Director                ______________________________ Director 

 

 

Note 

2015 

$ 

 2014 

$ 

Development Fund     

Assets     

Real estate available for re-sale 6 20,168,175  21,806,288 

Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements 8 4,893,907  4,735,962 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 –  938,294 

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 11 472,466  415,219 

Due from related parties 17 48,000  1,204,501 

Cash and cash equivalents  10 1,566,856  291,254 

     

Total assets  27,149,404  29,391,518 

     

Liabilities     

Loans payable  13 –  393,138 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12 641,922  1,224,710 

Security and advance deposits  1,163,044  900,000 

Due to related parties 17 111,481  – 

     

Total liabilities  1,916,447  2,517,848 

     

Total assets less liabilities  25,232,957  26,873,670 

     

Equity     

Capital and reserves attributable to the Fund 

shareholders 

 

   

Share capital 18 28,731,519  28,968,603 

Retained deficit  (3,498,562)  (2,094,933) 

     

Total shareholders’ funds  25,232,957  26,873,670 

     

Net asset value per share 19 0.46  0.49 

                     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                              



 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
For the year ended September 30, 2015 

 

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 

 Value Fund  Development Fund 

 

Attributable to Fund 

shareholders 

 

 

 

 

 

Attributable to Fund shareholders 

 

Share 

capital 

$  

Retained 

earnings 

$ 

 Non-

controlling 

interests 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 

 

Share 

capital 

$  

Retained 

earnings/ 

(deficit) 

$ 

 

 

Total 

$ 

October 1, 2013 37,209,540  7,561,690  14,779,007  59,550,237  29,312,522  1,254,046 30,566,568 

             

Treasury shares (note 18) –  –  –  –  (343,919)  203,362 (140,557) 

             

Dividends declared 3.5 cents per share  

(note 14) –  (1,947,843) 

 

– 
 

(1,947,843) 

  

– 

 

– 
 

– 

             

Distributions to non-controlling interests (note 7) –  –  (1,849,000)  (1,849,000)  –  – – 

             

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year –  1,869,120  1,123,426  2,992,546  –  (3,552,341) (3,552,341) 

             

Balance - September 30, 2014 37,209,540  7,482,967  14,053,433  58,745,940  28,968,603  (2,094,933) 26,873,670 

             

Treasury shares (note 18) –  –  –  –  (237,084)  129,859 (107,225) 

             

Dividends declared 3.5 cents per share  

(note 14) –  (1,947,843) 

 

– 
 

(1,947,843) 

 –  

– 
– 

             

Distributions to non-controlling interests (note 7) –  –  (1,935,000)  (1,935,000)  –  – – 

             

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year –  976,338  (856,795)  119,543  –  (1,533,488) (1,533,488) 

             

Balance - September 30, 2015 37,209,540  6,511,462  11,261,638  54,982,640  28,731,519  (3,498,562) 25,232,957 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)  
For the year ended September 30, 2015 

 

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 Note 

2015  

$ 

2014 

$ 

Value Fund    

Revenue    

Net rental income 15 7,318,701 6,839,056 

Fair value losses on investment property  5 (7,395,000) (3,432,451) 

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity 

method 8 1,700,126 1,176,793 

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 – 43,522 

Interest income  5,466 8,324 

Dividend income  306 164 

Other income  747 11,936 

    

Total investment income  1,630,346 4,647,344 

    

Expenses    

Interest expense  607,832 724,075 

Fund management fees  17 340,886 337,247 

Investment advisor fees 17 340,886 337,247 

Professional fees  146,253 169,536 

Impairment charge for receivables  11 24,200 22,201 

Directors and subcommittee fees  17 28,527 25,757 

Office and administrative expenses  22,219 38,735 

    

Operating expenditure  1,510,803 1,654,798 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year  119,543 2,992,546 

    

Attributable to:    

Cellular property fund shareholders  976,338 1,869,120 

Non- controlling interests 7 (856,795) 1,123,426 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year  119,543 2,992,546 

    

Earnings per share - basic and diluted  19 0.02 0.03 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

 

 



 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)…continued 
For the year ended September 30, 2015 

  

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 Note 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Development Fund    

Revenue    

Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method 8 (18,132) (28,060) 

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 8,583 17,441 

Interest income  41,010 65,451 

Other income  4,578 2,676 

    

Total investment income  36,039 57,508 

    

Expenses    

Impairment loss on real estate available for re-sale  6 720,987 2,566,837 

Interest expense  97,386 153,605 

Fund management fees  17 121,399 141,649 

Investment advisor fees 17 121,399 141,649 

Net carrying costs of real estate available for re-sale 16 299,490 316,025 

Professional fees  117,769 101,258 

Impairment (recovery)/charge for receivables  11 (10,000) 69,657 

Net loss on sale of real estate available for re-sale  16 78,879 69,521 

Directors and subcommittee fees  17 17,485 20,238 

Office and administrative expenses  4,733 29,410 

    

Operating expenditure  1,569,527 3,609,849 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,533,488) (3,552,341) 

    

Attributable to:    

Cellular property fund shareholders  (1,533,488) (3,552,341) 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,533,488) (3,552,341) 

    

Loss per share - basic and diluted  19 (0.03) (0.06) 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 



 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Consolidated Statement of Cashflows  
For the year ended September 30, 2015 

 

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

  
2015  

$  

2014 

$ 

Value Fund     

Cash flows from operating activities     

Total comprehensive income for the year  119,543  2,992,546 

Adjustments for:     

Fair value losses on investment property  7,395,000  3,432,451 

Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method  (1,700,126)  (1,176,793) 

        Impairment charge for receivables   24,200   22,201 

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  (43,522) 

Interest income   (5,466)  (8,324) 

Interest expense   607,832   724,075 

Dividend income   (306)  (164) 

     

Operating income before working capital changes  6,440,677  5,942,470 

Net increase in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses   (128,626)  (220,810) 

Net decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses   (134,728)  (190,338) 

Net increase/(decrease) in security and advance deposits   15,513   (30,545) 

Net (increase)/decrease in due to/from related parties   (160,948)  64,501 

Additions to investment properties  –  (252,451) 

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss  –  (754,568) 

Proceeds on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  1,336,936 

     

Cash generated from operations  6,031,888  5,895,195 

Interest received  5,466  14,251 

Interest paid  (562,832)  (805,162) 

Dividends received  306  164 

     

Net cash generated from operating activities  5,474,828  5,104,448 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Distributions to non-controlling interests  (1,935,000)  (1,849,000) 

Dividends paid  (1,947,843)  (1,947,843) 

Loan advances received  10,500,000  4,453,265 

Repayment of loans  (10,327,387)  (4,000,000) 

     

Net cash used in financing activities  (3,710,230)  (3,343,578) 

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    1,764,598   1,760,870 

     

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year   2,025,728   264,858 

     

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year    3,790,326   2,025,728 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows…continued 
For the year ended September 30, 2015 

 

(expressed in Barbados dollars) 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

  

 

  
2015  

$  

2014 

$ 

Development Fund     

Cash flows from operating activities     

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,533,488)  (3,552,341) 

Adjustments for:     

Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method  18,132  28,060 

Net loss on sale of real estate available for re-sale   78,879   69,521 

        Impairment (recovery)/charge for receivables   (10,000)  69,657 

        Impairment loss on real estate available for re-sale  720,987  2,566,837 

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   (8,583)  (17,441) 

Interest income   (41,010)  (65,451) 

Interest expense   97,386   153,605 

     

Operating loss before working capital changes  (677,697)  (747,553) 

Net (increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses   (47,247)  1,757,922 

Net (decrease)/increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses   (432,810)  155,774 

Net increase in security and advance deposits   23,044   – 

Net decrease/(increase) due to/from related parties   1,267,982   (1,204,501) 

Net proceeds from sale of real estate available for re-sale   838,247   1,373,985 

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   (600,000)  (2,370,851) 

Proceeds on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   1,546,876   1,450,000 

     

Cash generated from operations  1,918,395  414,776 

Interest received  41,010  65,451 

Interest paid  (7,363)  (12,689) 

     

Net cash generated from operating activities  1,952,042  467,538 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Investment in associated company  (176,077)  – 

     

Net cash used in investing activities  (176,077)  – 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Repurchase of shares  (107,225)  (140,557) 

Repayment of loans  (393,138)  (1,223,609) 

     

Net cash used in financing activities  (500,363)  (1,364,166) 

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    1,275,602   (896,628) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year   291,254   1,187,882 

     

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year    1,566,856   291,254 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(1) 

 

1 Incorporation and principal activities 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited (the Company) was incorporated on May 7, 1999 and is registered 

under the Mutual Funds Act of Barbados as an authorised mutual fund. The Company is a closed end fund. It 

commenced operations on August 20, 1999.  

 

On September 24th, 2013, at a special meeting of the shareholders of the Class “A” shares, the proposal to 

divide the Company into a segregated cell company was approved. As a result, effective October 1, 2013, the 

company was converted to a segregated cell company, Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC (“the 

Fund”). The Fund is divided into two cells, Fortress Caribbean Property Fund - Value Fund (“the Value Fund”) 

and Fortress Caribbean Property Fund - Development Fund (“the Development Fund”). As at October 1, 2013 

each share previously owned by the Class “A” shareholders has been replaced by one share in the Value Fund 

and one share in the Development Fund.  

 

The split of the Fund into the two cells is reflected on the Barbados Stock Exchange, the Company’s primary 

exchange listing. The Fund’s shares are also traded on the Trading on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange. 

Each share trades independently. 

 

The Fund maintains its registered office at 1st Floor, Carlisle House, Hincks Street, Bridgetown, Barbados.  

 

The investment objective of the Value Fund is to produce annual income and long term capital gains from a 

diversified portfolio of income producing properties in the Caribbean. It is expected that the Value Fund will 

pay out a minimum of 75% of its available distributable profits annually. 

 

The investment objective of the Development Fund is to realize value in the medium term on its portfolio of 

development properties in the Caribbean, and return capital to shareholders. It is not expected that the Fund will 

pay a regular dividend. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on December 

22, 2015.  

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated. 

 

a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) promulgated by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, as modified by the 

revaluation of certain financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties 

which are carried at fair value. 

 

 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(2) 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 

a) Basis of preparation …continued  

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 

Fund’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 

events and conditions, actual results could differ from these estimates. The areas involving a higher degree 

of judgement on complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial assets 

are disclosed in note 3. 

 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

 

New and amended standards adopted by the Fund 

 

There are no standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the first 

time for the financial year beginning 1 October 2014 that would be expected to have a material impact on 

the Fund. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective which may be relevant for 

the Fund’s operations 

 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 

beginning after 1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of 

these are expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Fund except 

the following: 

 IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial 

assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010 and is applicable 

from January 1, 2018. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of 

financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: 

those measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at 

initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial 

instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the 

standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value 

option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is 

recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an 

accounting mismatch. The Fund is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no 

later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

 

 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(3) 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 

b) Consolidation 

i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Fund has control. The group 

controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 

with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  

 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Fund. They are 

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between the Fund and its 

subsidiaries are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by 

subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform to the Fund’s accounting policies. 

 

The Fund’s subsidiary holdings are set out below: 

 

 2015 
 

2014 

Value Fund    

BET Building Joint Venture 57%  57% 

    

Development Fund    

Fortress (St. Lucia) Limited 100%  100% 

JK Holdings Limited 100%  100% 

 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 

 

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as 

equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference 

between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net 

assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests 

are also recorded in equity. 

 

Disposal of subsidiaries 

 

When the Fund ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at 

the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 

value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 

as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of 

the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(4) 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

  

b) Consolidation…continued 

ii) Associates  

Associated undertakings and joint ventures are entities in which the Fund has significant influence but 

not control, generally accompanying a shareholding or interest of between 20% and 50% of the voting 

rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the 

equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or 

decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of 

acquisition. 

 

The Fund’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share 

of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive 

income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the group’s 

share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other 

unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or 

constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 

The Fund determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment 

in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the group calculates the amount of impairment as the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the 

amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss) of associates’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income statement. 

 

The Fund’s associate holdings are set out below: 

 

  2015 2014 

Development Fund    

Contonou Shores Ltd.  35% 35% 

Rockley Development Limited  50% 50% 

Canouan CS&F Investments Limited  35% – 

 

iii) Joint arrangements 

The Fund has applied IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements as of October 1, 2013. Under IFRS 11 

investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending 

on the contractual rights and obligations each investor. The Fund has assessed the nature of its joint 

arrangements and has determined to have both joint ventures and joint operations.  

 

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, 

interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 

group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.  

 

 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(5) 

 

2  Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

  

b) Consolidation…continued 

iii) Joint arrangements…continued 

When the Fund’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures 

(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in 

the joint ventures), the Fund does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 

made payments on behalf of the joint ventures. Unrealised gains on transactions between the Fund and 

its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised 

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred.  

 

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of 

an arrangement. The Fund accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the 

joint operation.  

 

The Fund’s joint arrangement holdings are set out as below:  

 

 2015  2014 

Value Fund    

Joint ventures    

    The Sunset Joint Venture 24%  24% 

    The CS&C Joint Venture - account 1 24%  24% 

    

Development Fund    

Joint ventures    

      The CS&C Joint Venture - account 2 24%  24% 

Joint operations    

     Rockley Joint Venture 50%  50% 

    

 

Following the split of the Company on October 1, 2013, into a segregated cell company, the assets of 

the joint arrangements were allocated to each cell based on the investment objective of each cell as 

well as the characteristics of the underlying properties of the arrangements. As a result certain 

properties within the CS&C Joint Venture were split between the Value Fund and the Development 

Fund. Together both cells own 24% of the CS&C Joint Venture. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(6) 

 

2  Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 

c) Foreign currency translation 

 

Functional and presentation currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of the Fund, its subsidiary and associated companies are measured 

using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entities operates (“the functional 

currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars which is the functional 

and presentation currency of the Fund. 

 

Transactions and balances 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities held at fair value through profit or 

loss are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of the fair value gain and 

loss.  

 

d) Investments 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

i) Classification 

 

The Fund’s investments in equity securities and other mutual funds have been classified as financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with International Accounting Standards 39 (IAS 

39), Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

 

Financial assets in the category at fair value through profit or loss have been so designated by 

management at inception since the assets form part of the managed portfolio whose performance is 

evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented investment strategy.  

 

iv) Recognition, derecognition and measurement 

Regular-way purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date a 

fund commits to purchase or sell the investments. Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire 

financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They include the bid-ask spread, fees 

and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers.  Transaction costs, when incurred, are 

immediately recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense. Investments are 

derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or a fund has 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 

d)   Investments…continued 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss…continued 

 

ii) Recognition, derecognition and measurement…continued 

Investments in other investment funds are valued on the basis of the net asset value per share as 

determined by the administrators of those investment vehicles in accordance with industry practice. 

 

All other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and are 

subsequently carried at fair value based on quoted bid prices.  In the absence of quoted bid prices, the 

last close price and other information including the quoted offer price is considered by the Manager to 

determine the appropriate fair value price to be used.  In the event that a security held by a fund is 

unquoted, if unusual market conditions exist, or in the event that a particular security’s value has 

become impaired, the Manager, and on advice of an independent broker, will make a reasonable 

estimate of the fair value price by using valuation techniques.  These can include the use of recent arm's 

length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same or discounted cash 

flow analysis which make maximum use of market inputs and rely as little as possible on entity-specific 

inputs. 

 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of securities classified as financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as 

they arise. Average cost method is used to compute realised and unrealised gains on investments. 

 

Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the Fund’s right to 

receive payment is established. 

 

iii)  Fair value estimation 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The quoted market price used for 

financial assets held by the Fund is the current bid price; the quoted market price for financial liabilities 

is the current asking price. If a significant movement in fair value occurs subsequent to the close of 

trading on the year end date, valuation techniques will be applied to determine the fair value. 

 

A significant event is any event that occurs after the last market price for a security, close of market or 

close of the foreign exchange, but before the Fund’s valuation time that materially affects the integrity 

of the closing prices for any security, instrument, currency or securities affected by that event so that 

they cannot be considered ‘readily available’ market quotations. 

 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined 

using valuation techniques. The Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 

on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Valuation techniques used include the use of 

comparable recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 

d)   Investments…continued 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss…continued 

 

iii)  Fair value estimation…continued 

 

same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly 

used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible 

on entity-specific inputs. 

 

iv) Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the 

reporting period. 

 

e) Accounting for leases 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the 

lessor, are classified as operating leases. Where the Fund is the leasee, payments, including prepayments, 

made under operating leases are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a 

straight line basis over the period of the lease. Where the Fund is the lessor, properties leased out under 

operating leases are included in investment property in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight line basis.  

 

f) Investment properties 

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied 

by the companies in the consolidated group, is classified as investment property. Investment property also 

includes property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property. 

 

Investment properties are treated as long-term investments.  Investment property is initially measured at its 

cost including related transaction costs.  After initial recognition investment property is carried at fair value. 

Fair value is determined semi-annually or annually by professional independent valuers. The professional 

valuers hold recognised and relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location 

and category of the investment property being valued. The valuations form the basis for the carrying 

amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. Changes in the fair value of investment property are 

recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of investment 

property related to foreign currency translation are also recognised in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income.   

 

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount is charged or credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

 

f)  Investment properties…continued 

If investment property is reclassified as real estate available for re-sale, its fair value at the date of 

reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. 

 

If real estate available for re-sale is transferred to investment property, any difference resulting between the 

carrying value and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income. 

 

g) Real estate available for re-sale 

Properties that are being held for future sale or in the process of construction or development for such sale 

are classified as real estate available for re-sale and are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

Subsequent costs are included in the properties’ carrying value.   

 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs to complete 

redevelopment and selling expenses. The carrying value is immediately written down to its recoverable 

amount if its carrying value is assessed to be greater than the estimated recoverable amount.  

 

Gains and losses realised on the sale of real estate are included in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income at the time of sale.  

 

h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments, with original maturities of three months or less 

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash which are subject to insignificant changes in value. 

 

i) Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of 

business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

 

j) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired 

in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable and accrued expenses are recognised 

initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

k) Share capital 

The Fund’s two classes of cellular shares, the Value Fund shares and the Development Fund shares are 

classified as equity. Proceeds from the issue of shares are recorded net of share issue costs. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 
 

l) Net asset value per share and earnings per share 

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets of each segregated cell by the number 

of outstanding cellular shares. 

 

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the cellular shareholders by the 

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. For the purpose of calculating diluted 

earnings per share the weighted average number of shares is adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential 

cellular shares. 

 

m) Dividends payable 

Dividend distributions on the Fund’s shares are recorded in the period during which the dividend declaration 

has been approved by the Board of Directors. 

 

n) Revenue recognition 

Interest income is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for all interest-bearing 

instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.   

 

Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the relevant rental agreements. Rental 

income is shown net of the direct property expenses incurred in managing the properties. 

 

Dividend income is recognised when the Fund’s right to receive payment is established.  

 

o) Taxation 

The Fund is licensed as an authorised mutual fund under the Mutual Funds Act, 2002-22 of Barbados.  The 

Directors have resolved that all of the net comprehensive income of the Fund is attributable to the Fund’s 

cellular shareholders.  In calculating the assessable income of the Fund for tax purposes, the Act provides 

for a deduction of up to 100% of the income that is designated to be the income of the Fund shareholders.  

 

p) Expenses 

Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  Expenses are charged to the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income. In addition to the management fees and administration expenses, the Fund is 

responsible for the payment of all direct expenses relating to its operations such as audit, legal and 

professional fees. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

q) Management and advisor fees 

Fortress Fund Managers Limited serves as manager and registrar of the Fund. As a result of providing 

investment advisory, management and registrar services, Fortress Fund Managers Limited receives a 

management fee based on the average net asset value of the Fund, calculated monthly and payable in 

arrears, at the rate of 0.75% per annum of the net asset value of the Value Fund and 0.375% per annum of 

the net asset value of the Development Fund. The manager receives a progress fee of 2% of the net proceeds 

of any non- income generating property sold or leased at fair market value within the Development Fund. 

 

Altman Real Estate serves as investment advisor and property manager.  As a result of providing investment 

advisory services, Altman Real Estate receives an advisory fee based on the average net asset value of the 

Fund, calculated monthly and payable in arrears, at the rate of 0.75% per annum of the net asset value of the 

Value Fund and 0.375% per annum of the net asset value of the Development Fund. The investment advisor 

receives a progress fee of 2% of the net proceeds of any non- income generating property sold or leased at 

fair market value within the Development Fund. 

 

r) Loans payable 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 

the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period 

of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

 

s) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting used by the chief 

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors who 

makes the strategic decisions. The Board of Directors is responsible for the Fund’s entire portfolio and 

considers the business to have a single operating segment. The asset allocation decisions are based on a 

single, integrated investment strategy, and the Fund’s performance is evaluated on an overall basis. 

 

t) Security and advance deposits 

The Fund obtains deposits from tenants as a guarantee for returning the property at the end of the lease term 

in a specified good condition or for the lease payments for a period ranging from 1 to 12 months. Such 

deposits are treated as financial assets in accordance with IAS 39 and they are initially recognised at fair 

value. The deposit is subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
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3 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined below. 

 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying value 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year relate to the valuation of investment property and real 

estate held for re-sale. The fair value of these properties are determined annually by an independent professional 

valuer. Significant estimates and judgements in the estimation of values are disclosed in notes 5 and 6.  

 

4 Financial risk management 

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes price risk and interest 

rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The risk management policies employed by the Fund to manage these 

risks are discussed below. 

 

The Fund’s overall risk management programme seeks to maximise the returns derived for the level of risk to 

which the Fund is exposed and seeks to minimise the potential adverse effect on the Fund’s financial 

performance. 

 

The risk management policies employed by the Fund to manage these risks are discussed below. 

 

The management of these risks is carried out by the Investment Manager under policies approved by the Board 

of Directors. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies 

covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative 

financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of excess liquidity. 

 

Market risk 

 

i) Price risk 

The Fund is exposed to market price risk arising primarily from the changes in equity prices. A summary of 

the overall consolidated statement of financial position market exposures at September 30, 2015 is disclosed 

in note 9. 

 

At September 30, 2015, nil (2014- 100%) of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held in the 

Development Fund, nil for the Value Fund, comprise of investments in other funds that have been fair 

valued in accordance with the policies set out in note 2d. Since the shares of the other funds are not publicly 

traded, redemption can only be made by the Fund on the redemption dates and subject to the required notice 

periods specified in the offering documents of each of the other funds. The rights of the Fund to request 

redemption of its investments in other funds may vary in frequency from daily to monthly redemptions. As a 

result, the carrying values of the other funds may not be indicative of the prevailing values ultimately 

realised on redemption. In addition, the Fund may be materially affected by the actions of other investors 

who have invested in funds in which the Fund has invested.  
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

Market risk 

 

i) Price risk…continued 

Sensitivity 

 

The effects of a change in equity prices for each fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 

set out below. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity indexes increase/decrease by 6%-9% 

and the net asset value of the mutual funds held increase/decrease by 5% with all other variables held 

constant. These changes represents what is considered to be a reasonable movement within the specific 

benchmarks by management.  

  

Carrying 

value 

$ 

Effective 

change at  

September 

2015 

Impact on 

income 

$ 

September 30, 2015     

     

Value Fund:     

Listed on Caribbean stock exchanges and markets  8,000                6% 480 

 

  

Carrying 

value 

$ 

Effective 

change at  

September 

2014 

Impact on 

income 

$ 

September 30, 2014     

     

Value Fund:     

Listed on Caribbean stock exchanges and markets  8,000              9% 720 

 

  8,000  720 

     

Development Fund:     

Mutual funds  938,294          5% 46,915 

  

 

938,294  46,915 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Market risk…continued 

 

ii) Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk 

 

The Fund’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 

the Fund to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value 

interest rate risk. The Fund holds the majority of its long term borrowings in fixed rate instruments. The 

details of the Fund’s long-term borrowings are included in note 13. Any excess cash and cash equivalents of 

the Fund are invested at short-term market interest rates. The effective yield on cash and cash equivalents is 

disclosed in note 10.  

 

The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Fund’s financial assets 

and liabilities categorised by the earlier of the contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 

 

  

0 - 3 

months 

$  

4 months 

to 1 year 

$  

Over 

1 year 

$  

Non- 

interest 

bearing 

$  

Total 

$ 

September 30, 2015           

           

Value Fund           

           

Financial assets           

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss  –  –  –  8,000  8,000 

Accounts receivable  –  –  –  339,328  339,328 

Due from related parties  –  –  –  96,447  96,447 

Cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  3,790,326  3,790,326 

           

Total financial assets  –  –  –  4,234,101  4,234,101 

           

Financial liabilities           

Loans payable  –  –  10,500,000  80,000  10,580,000 

Accounts payable and           

accrued expenses  –  –  –  431,126  431,126 

Security and advance deposits  –  –  –  360,574  360,574 

           

Total financial liabilities  –  –  10,500,000  871,700  11,371,700 
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4 Financial risk management …continued 

 

Market risk …continued 

 

ii) Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk…continued 

 

  

0 – 3 

months 

$  

4 months 

to 1 year 

$  

Over 

1 year 

$  

Non- 

interest 

bearing 

$  

Total 

$ 

September 30, 2015           

           

Development Fund           

           

Financial assets           

Accounts receivable  –  –  –  416,206  416,206 

Due from related parties  –  –  –  48,000  48,000 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,140,000  –  –  426,856  1,566,856 

           

Total financial assets  1,140,000  –  –  891,062  2,031,062 

           

Financial liabilities           

Accounts payable and           

accrued expenses  –  –  –  641,922  641,922 

Security and advance deposits  1,140,000  –  –  23,044  1,163,044 

Due to related parties  –  –  –  111,481  111,481 

           

Total financial liabilities  1,140,000  –  –  776,447  1,916,447 
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4 Financial risk management …continued 

 

Market risk …continued 

 

ii) Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk…continued 

 

  

0 - 3 

months 

$  

4 months 

to 1 year 

$  

Over 

1 year 

$  

Non- 

interest 

bearing 

$  

Total 

$ 

September 30, 2014           

Value Fund           

Financial assets           

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss  –  –  –  8,000  8,000 

Accounts receivable  –  –  –  270,292  270,292 
Cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  2,025,728  2,025,728 

           

Total financial assets  –  –  –  2,304,020  2,304,020 

           

Financial liabilities           

Loans payable  900,000  9,363,750  –  98,637  10,362,387 
Accounts payable and           

accrued expenses  –  –  –  565,854  565,854 

Security and advance deposits  –  –  –  345,061  345,061 
Due to related parties  –  –  –  64,501  64,501 

           

Total financial liabilities  900,000  9,363,750  –  1,074,053  11,337,803 

           

Development Fund           

Financial assets           

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss  –  –  –  938,294  938,294 

Accounts receivable  –  –  –  398,114  398,114 

Due from related parties  900,000  240,000  –  64,501  1,204,501 
Cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  291,254  291,254 

           

Total financial assets  900,000  240,000  –  1,692,163  2,832,163 

           

Financial liabilities           

Loans payable  393,138  –  –  –  393,138 

Accounts payable and           
accrued expenses  –  –                    –  1,224,710  1,224,710 

Security and advance deposits  –  –  900,000  –  900,000 

           

Total financial liabilities  393,138  –  900,000  1,224,710  2,517,848 
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4 Financial risk management …continued 

 

Market risk …continued 

 

ii) Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk…continued 

 

The carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities are considered reasonable estimates of their fair 

value. 

 

The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other 

variables held constant, on total comprehensive income. At September 30, 2015, the majority of the Fund’s 

financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing. The Fund’s debt securities and long term debt are 

fixed rate instrument. As a result the Fund is not subject to significant amounts of cash flow interest risk due 

to fluctuation in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. 

 

 

Effect on total 

comprehensive  

income 

2015 

$  

Effect on total 

comprehensive  

income 

2014 

$ 

Change in interest rate:    

Development Fund    

-2% –  7,863 

 2% –  (7,863) 

 

iii) Foreign currency risk 

 

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in the Barbados dollar or 

currencies fixed to the Barbados dollar, its functional currency. The Fund therefore has no significant 

exposure to foreign currency risk.  

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty to a financial instrument will be unable or unwilling to meet 

a commitment thereby causing a financial loss to the Fund. 

 

The maximum exposure of the Fund to credit risk is set out in the following table: 

  

Value 

Fund 

$  

Development 

Fund 

$ 

September 30, 2015     

Accounts receivable  339,328  416,206 

Due from related parties  96,447  48,000 

Cash and cash equivalents  3,790,326  1,566,856 

     

Total financial assets  4,226,101  2,031,062 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Credit risk…continued 

 

  

Value 

Fund 

$  

Development 

Fund 

$ 

September 30, 2014     

     

Accounts receivable  270,292  398,114 

Due from related parties  –  1,204,501 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,025,728  291,254 

     

Total financial assets  2,296,020  1,893,869 

 

Accounts receivable comprise mainly of amounts due from the tenants of investment properties and proceeds 

from the sale of properties. As part of the lease agreements tenants provide a security deposit. The property 

manager does an assessment of the business of the prospective client to determine its viability and hence its 

ability to meet the lease commitments.   

 

The Fund has no significant individual credit exposure on amounts due from tenants. 

 

The Fund’s exposure to individual counterparty credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents and short term 

deposits exceeding 2% of total Fund net assets are set out below: 

 

  

Value 

Fund 

$  

Development 

Fund 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalents     

     

September 30, 2015     

     

CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (not rated)  3,790,326  426,856 

First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Limited (not rated)  –  1,140,000 

     

  3,790,326  1,566,856 

September 30, 2014     

     

CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (not rated)  2,025,728  291,254 

     

     

 

The Fund’s past due or impaired financial assets are disclosed in note 11.  
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient cash and ensuring the availability of funding 

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet the obligations of the Fund. 

 

The table below analyses the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 

remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table 

below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying amount, 

as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 

 

0 – 3 

months 

$ 

3 months 

to 1 year 

$ 

1 - 5 years 

$ 

No stated 

maturity 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 

Value Fund      

      

September 30, 2015      

Assets      

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss – – – 8,000 8,000 

Accounts receivable  164,453 174,875 – – 339,328 

Due from related parties 96,447 – – – 96,447 

Cash and cash equivalents  3,790,326 – – – 3,790,326 

      

Total financial assets 4,051,226 174,875 – 8,000 4,234,101 

      

Liabilities      

Loans payable – 80,000 12,653,750 – 12,733,750 

Accounts payable and      

accrued expenses 431,126 – – – 431,126 

Security and advance deposits 116,849 101,509 142,216 – 360,574 

      

Total financial liabilities 547,975 181,509 12,795,966 – 13,525,450 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Liquidity risk…continued 

 

 

0 - 3 

months 

$ 

3 months 

to 1 year 

$ 

1 - 5 years 

$ 

No stated 

maturity 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 

Value Fund      

      

September 30, 2014      

Assets      

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss – – – 

 

8,000 
 

8,000 

Accounts receivable  105,038 165,254 – – 270,292 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,025,728 – – – 2,025,728 

      

Total financial assets 2,130,766 165,254 – 8,000 2,304,020 

      

Liabilities      

Loans payable 974,887 9,891,938 – – 10,866,825 

Accounts payable and      

accrued expenses 565,854 – – – 565,854 

Security and advance deposits 86,737 47,228 211,096 – 345,061 

Due to related parties 64,501 – – – 64,501 

      

Total financial liabilities 1,691,979 9,939,166 211,096 – 11,842,241 

 

The Fund manages its liquidity risk through receipt of committed lease income where the Fund is the lessor. 

Details of the future operating lease income are disclosed in note 20. 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Liquidity risk…continued 

 

 

0 - 3 

months 

$ 

3 months 

to 1 year 

$ 

1 - 5 years 

$ 

No stated 

maturity 

$ 

 

Total 

$ 

Development Fund      

      

September 30, 2015      

Assets      

Accounts receivable  61,121 345,085 – 10,000 416,206 

Due from related parties – 48,000 – – 48,000 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,570,229 – – – 1,570,229 

      

Total financial assets 1,631,350 393,085 – 10,000 2,034,435 

      

Liabilities      

Accounts payable and      

accrued expenses 625,922 16,000 – – 641,922 

Security and advance deposits 1,166,417 – – – 1,166,417 

Due to related parties 111,481 – – – 111,481 

      

Total financial liabilities 1,903,820 16,000 – – 1,919,820 

      

September 30, 2014      

Assets      

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss – – – 

 

938,294 938,294 

Accounts receivable  311,655 86,459 – – 398,114 

Due from related parties 964,501 240,000 – – 1,204,501 

Cash and cash equivalents  291,254 – – – 291,254 

      

Total financial assets 1,567,410 326,459 – 938,294 2,832,163 

      

Liabilities      

Loans payable 402,966 – – – 402,966 

Accounts payable and      

accrued expenses 840,342 384,368 – – 1,224,710 

Security and advance deposits – – 1,080,000 – 1,080,000 

      

Total financial liabilities 1,243,308 384,368 1,080,000 – 2,707,676 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Fair value estimation 

 

The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets. The quoted market price used for financial assets held 

by the Fund is the current bid price; the quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current asking price. If 

a significant movement in fair value occurs subsequent to the close of trading on the year end date, valuation 

techniques will be applied to determine the fair value. 

 

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 

and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

 

The Fund is required to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

 

 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). 

 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either  

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).  

 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)  

(level 3). 

 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is 

determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.   

 

For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a 

fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, 

that measurement is a level 3 measurement.  Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value 

measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. 

 

The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ also requires significant judgment by the Fund.  The Fund 

considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, 

reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the 

relevant market.  

 

The following tables analyse within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities (by class) 

measured at fair value: 

 

 
Level 1 

$  

Level 2 

$ 

 Level 3 

$ 

 Total  

$ 

September 30, 2015        

        

Financial assets at fair value through        

profit or loss        

        

Value Fund        

Listed equity securities –  8,000  –  8,000 
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4 Financial risk management…continued 

 

Fair value estimation …continued 

 

 
Level 1 

$  

Level 2 

$ 

 Level 3 

$ 

 Total  

$ 

September 30, 2014        

        

Financial assets at fair value through        

profit or loss        

        

Value Fund        

Listed equity securities –  8,000  –  8,000 

        

        

Development Fund        

Mutual funds –  938,294  –  938,294 

 
Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within 

level 1, include active listed equities. The Fund does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments. 

 

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted 

market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified 

within level 2. These include unlisted mutual funds. As level 2 investments include positions that are not traded 

in active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity 

and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.  

 

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently. As 

observable prices are not available for these securities, the Fund has used valuation techniques to derive the fair 

value. 
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4    Financial risk management…continued 

 

Fair value estimation …continued 

 

Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed 

 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets and liabilities (by class) not 

measured at fair value at September 30, 2015 but for which fair value is disclosed. 

 

 
Level 1 

$  

Level 2 

$ 

 Level 3 

$ 

 Total  

$ 

September 30, 2015        

        

Value Fund        

        

Assets        

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses –  385,345  –  385,345 

Due from related parties –  96,447  –  96,447 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,790,326  –  –  3,790,326 

        

Total 3,790,326  481,792    4,272,118 

        

Liabilities        

Loans payable –  10,580,000  –  10,580,000 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses –  431,126  –  431,126 

Security and advance deposits –  360,574  –  360,574 

        

Total –  11,371,700  –  11,371,700 

        

Development Fund        

        

Assets        

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses –  472,466  –  472,466 

Due from related parties –  48,000  –  48,000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,566,856  –  –  1,566,856 

        

Total 1,566,856  520,466  –  2,087,322 

        

Liabilities        

Accounts payable and accrued expenses –  641,922  –  641,922 

Security and advance deposits –  1,163,044  –  1,163,044 

Due to related parties –  111,481  –  111,481 

        

Total –  1,916,447  –  1,916,447 
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4    Financial risk management…continued 

 

Fair value estimation …continued 

 

Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed 

 

 
Level 1 

$  

Level 2 

$ 

 Level 3 

$ 

 Total  

$ 

September 30, 2014        

        

Value Fund        

        

Assets        

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses –  280,919  –  280,919 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,025,728  –  –  2,025,728 

        

Total 2,025,728  280,919  –  2,306,647 

        

Liabilities        

Loans payable –  10,362,387  –  10,362,387 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses –   565,854  –  565,854 

Security and advance deposits –  345,061  –  345,061 

Due to related parties –  64,501  –  64,501 

        

Total –  11,337,803    11,337,803 

        

Development Fund        

        

Assets        

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses –  415,219  –  415,219 

Due from related parties –  1,204,501  –  1,204,501 

Cash and cash equivalents 291,254  –  –  291,254 

        

Total 291,254  1,619,720  –  1,910,974 

        

Liabilities        

Loans payable –  393,138  –  393,138 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses –  1,224,710  –  1,224,710 

Security and advance deposits –  900,000  –  900,000 

        

Total –  2,517,848  –  2,517,848 
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4    Financial risk management…continued 

 

Fair value estimation …continued 

 

Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed 

 

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rates and are within level 

2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held with banks and other short-term investments in an 

active market. 

 

The remaining assets and liabilities included in the above table are carried at amortised cost; their carrying 

values are a reasonable approximation of fair value, due to their short-term nature. 

 

Capital risk management 

 

The Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund may 

adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell 

assets to reduce debt. 

 

5 Investment properties 

An independent valuation of the Value Fund’s investment properties was performed by valuers to determine the 

fair value of the investment properties as at September 30, 2015. The fair value gains/losses recognised has been 

recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

The following table analyses the non-financial assets carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different 

levels have been defined as follows: 

 

 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).  

 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).  

 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 

(Level 3). 
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5 Investment properties…continued 

 

Fair value 

hierarchy/ 

level 

Fair value 

b/fwd 

$ 

Additions/ 

(Disposals) 

$ 

Fair value 

losses  

$ 

Fair value 

c/fwd 

$ 

      

Value Fund      

The CWBET Building               3 32,000,000 – (7,300,000) 24,700,000 

Carlisle House               3 11,000,000 – – 11,000,000 

No. 24 Broad Street                3 8,500,000 – – 8,500,000 

The Chattel Village               3 1,270,000 – (95,000) 1,175,000 

      

  52,770,000 – (7,395,000) 45,375,000 

 

During the year the investment properties were appraised by an independent valuer at $45,375,000 (2014- 

$52,770,000). The decrease of this current valuation over the previous valuation amounting to $7,395,000 

(2014- $3,432,451) has been recorded as fair value losses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. 

 

Valuations are performed as of the financial position date by professional valuers who hold recognised and 

relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location and category of the investment 

property being valued. These valuations form the basis for the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 

statements. Due to the nature of the process, valuations may differ between professional valuers.  

 

Valuation techniques used to derive level 3 fair values  

 

Level 3 fair values of land and buildings have been derived using the income approach. The income approach 

encompasses consideration of the direct capitalisation and the discount cash flow valuation methods. The 

income approach utilises the current actual and potential rents for the net rentable space in the buildings and 

calculates the value of the property based on a return on investment that an investor would anticipate.  The 

inputs utilised in this method are as follows: 

 

 Future rental cash inflows based on the actual location, type and quality of the properties and supported 

by the terms of any existing lease, other contracts or external evidence such as current market rents for 

similar properties; 

 Discount rates reflecting current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of 

cash flows;  

 Estimated vacancy rates based on current and expected future market conditions after expiry of any 

current lease; 

 Maintenance costs including necessary investments to maintain functionality of the property for its 

expected useful life;  

 Capitalisation rates based on actual location, size and quality of the properties and taking into account 

market data at the valuation date;  

 Terminal value taking into account assumptions regarding maintenance costs, vacancy rates and market 

rents. 
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5 Investment properties…continued 

The below table provides information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs 

(Level 3). 

 

   

Level 3- Range of unobservable 

inputs 

    

Description 

 

 

Valuation Valuation technique 

Long- term 

net operating 

income 

margin 

 

Capitalisation rate 

for terminal value 

     

September 30, 2015     

     

The CWBET Building $24,700,000 Discounted cash flows  65% 10.5% 

Carlisle House $11,000,000 Discounted cash flows 58% 10.5% 

No. 24 Broad Street  $8,500,000 Discounted cash flows 92% 9.5% 

The Chattel Village $1,175,000 Discounted cash flows 30% – 

 

   

Level 3- Range of unobservable 

inputs 

    

Description 

 

 

Valuation Valuation technique 

Long- term 

net operating 

income 

margin 

 

Capitalisation rate 

for terminal value 

     

September 30, 2014     

     

The CWBET Building $32,000,000 Discounted cash flows  59% 12% 

Carlisle House $11,000,000 Discounted cash flows 59% 10.5% 

No. 24 Broad Street  $8,500,000 Discounted cash flows 95%  9.5% 

The Chattel Village $1,270,000 Discounted cash flows 30% – 

 

Valuation processes 

 

The Fund’s investment properties are valued at July 31, 2015 and September 30, 2015 (2014- August 31, 2014) 

by independent professionally qualified valuers who hold a recognised relevant professional qualification and 

have recent experience in the locations and segments of the investment properties valued. For all investment 

properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use. 

 

The Fund's investment and property managers review the valuations performed by the independent valuers for 

financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly to the Audit Committee (AC). Discussions of valuation 

processes and results are held between Audit Committee, the valuation team and the independent valuers at least 

twice a year, in line with the Fund's valuation policies disclosed in note 2f. 
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5 Investment properties…continued 

At each financial year end the valuation team: 

 

 verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;  

 assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior year valuation report;  

 holds discussions with the independent valuer. 

 

The Fund’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of 

the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 

 

6 Real estate available for re-sale 

The detailed portfolio of real estate available for re-sale is as follows: 

 

  

Value at 

b/fwd 

$ 

Additions/ 

(Disposals)        

 $ 

Impairment 

gains/(losses) 

$ 

Value 

c/fwd 

$ 

Development Fund      

      

Developed properties:      

Villas on the Green villas  4,691,829 (917,126) (58,188) 3,716,515 

Lime Grove Hillside Villa  1,196,000 – (46,000) 1,150,000 

Apes Hill Polo Villa  1,322,947 – (20,237) 1,302,710 

Holders Cottage  1,472,000 – (92,000) 1,380,000 

      

Land and properties under      

development:      

Wotton lands  5,520,000 – – 5,520,000 

Rockley- Cane Gardens lands  1,840,000 – – 1,840,000 

Rockley- Central area lands  1,035,000 – – 1,035,000 

Villas on the Green lands  3,026,512 – (458,562) 2,567,950 

Apes Hill land   874,000 – – 874,000 

Lion Castle land  828,000 – (46,000) 782,000 

      

  21,806,288 (917,126) (720,987) 20,168,175 

 

Real estate available for re-sale is carried at lower of cost or net realisable value. During the year impairment 

tests on the carrying value of the real estate available for re-sale were performed. Based on these tests the real 

estate available for re-sale were subsequently adjusted to their net realisable values resulting in impairment 

losses of $720,987 (2014- $2,566,837) being recognised.  

 

Valuations performed by professional valuers are utilised in the process of determining the net realisable value 

of the real estate available for re-sale. Due to the nature of the valuation process, valuations may differ between 

professional valuers. The effect on net income of an across the board 10% depreciation in the net realisable 

value of the Fund’s real estate available for re-sale would amount to $2,016,817 (2014- $2,180,629). 
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7 Investment in subsidiaries 

The Fund has the following subsidiaries at September 30, 2015: 

 

Name 

Country of 

incorporation 

Proportion of ordinary 

shares directly held by 

parent (%) 

Proportion of ordinary 

shares directly held by non-

controlling interests (%) 

    
Value Fund    

BET Building Joint Venture Barbados 57% 43% 

    

Development Fund    

Fortress (St. Lucia) Limited St. Lucia 100% – 

JK Holdings Limited Barbados 100% – 

 

The Value Fund owns a 57% interest in The BET Building Joint Venture which was registered in Barbados on  

October 12, 2001.  The joint venture owns The CWBET Building in Wildey which has been included in 

investment properties (note 5). The total non-controlling interest for the period is $11,261,638 (2014- 

$14,053,433), which is for the BET Joint Venture. 

 

The Development Fund owns a 100% interest in Fortress (St. Lucia) Limited, a company incorporated in St. 

Lucia. This company owns the Villas on the Green property which has been included in real estate available for 

re-sale (note 6). 

 

The Development Fund owns a 100% interest in JK Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Barbados.  

This company owns the Holders Cottage which has been included in real estate available for re-sale (note 6). 

 

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidated statements of the Value Fund and the Development 

Fund. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings held directly by the parent company do 

not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held.  
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7    Investment in subsidiaries…continued 

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests 

 

Set out below are the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests 

that are material to the group. 

 

Summarised statement of financial position: 

 

 The BET Building Joint Venture 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Current    

Assets 1,605,278 771,687 

Liabilities (115,423) (89,283) 

Total current net assets 1,489,855 682,404 

   

Non-current   

Assets 24,700,000 32,000,000 

Liabilities – – 

Total non-current assets 24,700,000 32,000,000 

 

Net assets 26,189,855 32,682,404 

 

The BET Joint Venture previously held a loan with RBTT Merchant Bank secured by a first mortgage over the 

CWBET building at Wildey, St Michael. The loan has been repaid and the security will be released in due 

course. 

 

Summarised statement of comprehensive income: 

 

 The BET Building Joint Venture 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

   

Revenue (1,808,871) 2,729,516 

Expenses (183,677) (116,896) 

 

Total comprehensive income for the year (1,992,548) 2,612,620 

   

Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests (856,795) 1,123,426 

   

Distributions paid to non-controlling interests 1,935,000 1,849,000 
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7    Investment in subsidiaries…continued 

Summarised cash flows: 

 

 The BET Building Joint Venture 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Cash flows from operating activities:   

Cash generated from operating activities 5,334,301 5,081,238 

Net cash used in financing activities (4,500,000) (4,300,000) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 834,301 781,238 

   

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 770,977 (10,261) 

   

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 1,605,278 770,977 

 

The information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations. 

 

8 Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements 

The amounts recognised in the statement of position are as follows: 

 

Value Fund 

$ 

Development Fund  

$ 

September 30, 2015   

Associates – 3,160,053 

Joint ventures 16,699,222 1,733,854 

   

 16,699,222 4,893,907 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 

are as follows:   

Associates – (15,649) 

Joint ventures 1,700,126 (2,483) 

   

 1,700,126 (18,132) 

September 30, 2014   

Associates – 2,999,625 

Joint ventures 14,999,096 1,736,337 

   

 14,999,096 4,735,962 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 

are as follows:   

Associates – – 

Joint ventures 1,176,793 (28,060) 

   

 1,176,793 (28,060) 
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8 Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements…continued 

i) Investment in associates 

Set out below are the associates of the group as at September 30, 2015, which, in the opinion of the directors, 

are material to the group. The associates as listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, 

which are held directly by the Fund. 

 

The nature of investment in associates: 

Name of entity 

 

 

Place of business 

Percentage of 

ownership 

interest 

Measurement 

method 

    

Development Fund    

Contonou Shores Ltd. 

Canouan Island, St.Vincent and 

the Grenadines 35% Equity 

    

Canouan CS&F Investments 

Limited 

Canouan Island, St.Vincent and 

the Grenadines 35% Equity 

    

Rockley Development 

Limited 

Barbados 

50% Equity 

 

The Development Fund has a 35% interest in Contonou Shores Ltd, a company incorporated in the Bahamas. 

This company owns land on Canouan Island, St. Vincent and the Grenadines which is classified as available for 

sale. 

 

The Development Fund has a 35% interest in Canouan CS&F Investments Limited. This company owns land 

on Canouan Island, St. Vincent and the Grenadines which is classified as available for sale. 

 

The Development Fund has a 50% interest in Rockley Development Limited. The company was formed to 

facilitate the renovations of buildings at Orange Hill in Rockley. 

 

Contonou Shores Ltd and Rockley Development Limited are private companies and there is no quoted market 

price available for the shares. 

 

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Fund’s interest in the associates. 
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8  Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements…continued 

ii)   Investment in joint ventures 
 

  

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Value Fund    

At October 1  14,999,096 13,822,303 

Share of profit  1,700,126 1,176,793 

 

At September 30  16,699,222 14,999,096 

    

Development Fund    

At October 1  1,736,337 1,764,397 

Share of loss  (2,483) (28,060) 

 

At September 30  1,733,854 1,736,337 

 

The joint ventures listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which is held directly 

by the Fund. 

 

        Name of entity 

 

Place of 

business 

Percentage of 

ownership 

interest 

Measurement 

method  

    

Value Fund    

The Sunset Joint Venture Barbados 24% Equity 

The CS&C Joint Venture- account 1 Barbados 24% Equity 

    

Development Fund    

The CS&C Joint Venture- account 2 Barbados 24% Equity 

 

The Value Fund has a 24% interest in a joint venture partnership called The Sunset Joint Venture.  The 

partnership was formed to facilitate the purchase of the Sunset Mall, a commercial property at Sunset Crest, 

St. James.   

 

The Fund has a 24% interest in a joint venture partnership called The CS&C Joint Venture. The partnership 

was formed to facilitate the purchase of land and buildings previously owned by Cave Shepherd and Co. 

Ltd. and Carter Holdings Limited. The partnership has acquired the Carter’s properties at Wildey, Barbarees 

Hill, High Street, 13.5 acres of undeveloped land at Lower Estate and the Cave Shepherd building at 10-14 

Broad Street. Following the split of the Company on October 1, 2013, into a segregated cell company, the 

assets of the joint arrangements were allocated to each cell based on the investment objective of each cell as 

well as the characteristics of the underlying properties of the arrangements. As a result certain properties 

within the CS&C Joint Venture were split between the Value Fund and the Development Fund. At the time  
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8 Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements…continued 

ii)  Investment in joint ventures...continued 

 

of the formation of the cell entities the rights to the property held for re-sale in the CS&C Joint Venture 

were allocated to the Development Fund. Together both cells own 24% of the CS&C Joint Venture. 

 

The above entities are private companies and there is no quoted market price available for their shares. 

 

Summarised financial information for joint ventures 

 

Set out below are the summarised financial information for joint ventures which are accounted for using the 

equity method. 

 

Summarised statement of financial position: 

 

 

The Sunset Joint 

Venture 

$ 

The CS&C Joint 

Venture 

$ 

September 30, 2015   

Assets   

Investment properties 9,800,000 65,353,903 

Real estate available for re-sale – 7,501,157 

Investments – 377,227 

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 10,592 286,713 

Cash and cash equivalents  564,855 381,220 

   

Total assets 10,375,447 73,900,220 

Liabilities   

Loans payable  2,030,545 5,056,020 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 94,220 290,400 

   

Total liabilities 2,124,765 5,346,420 

   

Total assets less liabilities 8,250,682 68,553,800 
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8    Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements …continued 

ii)  Investment in joint ventures...continued 

 

The Sunset Joint 

Venture 

$ 

The CS&C Joint 

Venture 

$ 

September 30, 2014   

Assets   

Investment properties 9,800,000 60,600,000 

Real estate available for re-sale – 8,334,882 

Investments – 374,803 

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 3,000 147,127 

Cash and cash equivalents  786,227 3,416,803 

   

Total assets 10,589,227 72,873,615 

Liabilities   

Loans payable  3,063,695 9,869,054 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 176,450 622,673 

   

Total liabilities 3,240,145 10,491,727 

   

Total assets less liabilities 7,349,082 62,381,888 

 

The loans payable in the CS&C Joint Venture are due to RBTT Merchant Bank Limited and are 10 years 

and 12 years non callable mortgage bonds secured by a first mortgage over the properties acquired, stamped 

to cover $34,500,000. 

 

The loan payable in the Sunset Joint Venture is due to RBTT Merchant Bank Limited and secured by a first 

mortgage stamped to cover $6,350,000 over property at Sunset Crest #2 St. James.  

 

Summarised statement of comprehensive income: 

 

 

The Sunset Joint 

Venture 

$ 

The CS&C Joint 

Venture 

$ 

September 30, 2015   

   

Revenue   

Net rental income 1,092,915 5,814,147 

Fair value gains on investment property  – 847,676 

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 2,424 

Net gain on sale of real estate available for re-sale – 96,275 

   

Total investment income 1,092,915 6,760,522 
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8    Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements …continued 

ii)  Investment in joint ventures...continued 

 

The Sunset Joint 

Venture 

$ 

The CS&C Joint 

Venture 

$ 

September 30, 2015   

   

Expenses   

Interest expense 174,950 421,551 

Net carrying costs of real estate available for re-sale – 106,617 

Professional fees 16,080 24,000 

Other operating expenses 285 36,442 

   

Operating expenditure 191,315 588,610 

   

Total comprehensive income for the year 901,600 6,171,912 

   

September 30, 2014   

   

Revenue   

Net rental income 976,467 5,536,729 

Fair value gains/(losses) on investment property  353,900 (991,396) 

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 12,038 

Other income 4,426 17,705 

   

Total investment income 1,334,793 4,575,076 

   

Expenses   

Interest expense 213,334 711,328 

Net carrying costs of real estate available for re-sale – 116,919 

Professional fees 15,580 30,000 

Other operating expenses – 36,322 

   

Operating expenditure 228,914 894,569 

   

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,105,879 3,680,507 
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8    Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements …continued 

ii)   Investment in joint ventures...continued 

 

Reconciliation of summarised financial information 

 

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in 

the joint venture. 

 

 

The Sunset Joint 

Venture 

$ 

The CS&C Joint 

Venture 

$ 

Summarised financial information   

   

Opening net assets October 1, 2014 7,349,082 62,381,888 

Profit for the year 901,600 6,171,912 

Closing net assets September 30, 2015 

 

8,250,682 68,553,800 

   

Interest in joint venture  24% 24% 

 

Carrying value 1,980,164 16,452,912 

   

   

Opening net assets October 1, 2013 6,243,203 58,701,381 

Profit for the year 1,105,879 3,680,507 

Closing net assets September 30, 2014 7,349,082 

 

62,381,888 

   

Interest in joint venture  24% 24% 

 

Carrying value 1,763,780 14,971,653 

 

iii)  Investment in joint operations 

Nature of investment in joint operations 

Name 

Country of 

incorporation 

Percentage of 

ownership interest 

   

Development Fund   

Rockley Joint Venture Barbados 50% 

 

The Development Fund has a 50% interest in a joint venture partnership called the Rockley Joint Venture. 

The partnership was formed to facilitate the purchase of land and buildings at Rockley.  
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8    Investments in associated companies and joint arrangements …continued 

iii)  Investment in joint operations…continued 

Nature of investment in joint operations 

The Fund has joint control over this arrangement as under the contractual agreements, unanimous consent is 

required from all parties to the agreements for all relevant activities. 

 

The Fund’s joint arrangement is not structured as a separate company. The agreement between the parties 

provides the Fund and the parties to the agreements with rights to the assets and liabilities of the limited 

company under the arrangements. Therefore, this arrangement is classified as a joint operation. 

 

The Development Fund’s share of results of its joint operations, its aggregated assets, liabilities and is as 

follows: 

 

 

Assets 

$ 

Liabilities 

$ 

Revenues 

$ 

Profit/(Loss) 

$ 

%Interest 

held 

      

     September 30, 2015 1,079,613 323,471 13,328 (16,344) 50% 

      

September 30, 2014 1,064,920 305,762 30,775 (394,200) 50% 

 

9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The detailed portfolio of investments which are carried at fair value through profit and loss is as follows: 

 

  2015 2014 

  

Cost 

$ 

Market value 

$ 

Cost 

$ 

Market value 

$ 

      

Value Fund      

Listed on Caribbean stock      

exchanges and markets  2,006 8,000 2,006 8,000 

Total financial assets at fair      

value through profit or loss  2,006 8,000 2,006 8,000 

      

Development Fund      

Caribbean mutual funds  – – 925,233 938,294 

Total financial assets at fair      

value through profit or loss  – – 925,233 938,294 
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9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss…continued 

The net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as follows: 

 

  

2015 

$  

2014 

$ 

     

Value Fund     

Unrealised gain  –  43,522 

     

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  43,522 

     

Development Fund     

Realised gain  8,583  4,382 

Unrealised gain  –  13,059 

     

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  8,583  17,441 

 

10 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

     

Cash at bank 3,790,326 2,025,728 1,566,856 291,254 

     

       Cash and cash equivalents  3,790,326 2,025,728 1,566,856 291,254 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are placed with leading regional commercial banks. The effective yield on cash and 

cash equivalents is nil. 

 

11 Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 $ $ $ $ 

Rent receivable from tenants 351,335 265,732 – – 

Other receivables 175,395 167,761 475,863 467,771 

Less: provision for impairment of receivables (187,402) (163,201) (59,657) (69,657) 

 339,328 270,292 416,206 398,114 

Prepaid expenses 46,017 10,627 56,260 17,105 

Accounts receivables, net of provision for 

impairment 385,345 280,919 

 

472,466 415,219 
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11  Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses…continued 

The estimated fair values of receivables are the discounted amounts of the estimated future cash flows expected 

to be received and approximate their carrying amounts. 

 

All receivables are due within one year from the end of the reporting period.  

 

As of September 30, 2015, within the Value Fund accounts receivables of $175,012 (2014- $41,764) were past 

due but not impaired and accounts receivable of $187,402 (2014- $173,227) were past due and impaired. The 

individually impaired receivables are over three months past due and mainly relate to certain tenants of 

commercial buildings. A provision is recognised for amounts not expected to be recovered. The Value Fund has 

recognised a loss of $24,200 (2014- $22,201) relating to the impairment of its receivables and the total provision 

amounted to $187,402 (2014- $163,201). 

 

As of September 30, 2015, within the Development Fund accounts receivables of $345,086 (2014-$156,119) 

were past due but not impaired and accounts receivable of $59,657 (2014- $69,657) were past due and impaired. 

A provision is recognised for amounts not expected to be recovered. The Development Fund has recognised a 

recovery of $10,000 (2014- $69,657 loss) relating to the impairment of its receivables and the total provision 

amounted to $59,657 (2014-$69,657). 

 

12 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

September 30, 2015     

Accounts payable       279,711 425,250 591,799 1,182,687 

Accrued expenses       151,415 140,604 50,123 42,023 

     

       431,126 565,854 641,922 1,224,710 

 

The estimated fair values of the above financial liabilities are the discounted amounts of the estimated future 

cash flows expected to be received and approximate their carrying amounts. 
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13 Loans payable 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 $ $ $ $ 

Bond payable     

Series 1 – 2015 – 3,035,000 – – 

Series 1 – 2018 3,020,000 – – – 

Series 2 – 2019 3,022,500 – – – 

Series 3 – 2020 4,537,500 – – – 

     

Fortress Caribbean High Interest Fund – 6,427,387 – – 

     

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 

- Development Fund 

 

– 900,000 – – 

     

Fortress Mutual Fund Limited     

Fortress (St. Lucia) Limited – – – 393,138 

     

 10,580,000 10,362,387 – 393,138 

 

The current portion due of loans payable amounts to $80,000 (2014-$10,362,387) for the Value Fund and nil 

(2014-$393,138) for the Development Fund. 

 

The Value Fund has outstanding a bond payable issued in three series. Series 1 carries an interest rate of 4% 

maturing July 31, 2018. Series 2 carries an interest rate of 4.5% maturing July 31, 2019. Series 3 carries an 

interest rate of 5% maturing July 31, 2020. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears and principal will be 

fully repaid on maturity. The collateral security on the bond is Carlisle House, Hincks Street, Bridgetown and 

No.24 Broad Street, Bridgetown. 

 

At September 30, 2014, the Value Fund had an outstanding bond payable issued in three series. Series 1 carried 

an interest rate of 7% and matured on July 31, 2015. Series 2 and Series 3 were repaid. 

 

At September 30, 2014, the Value Fund had loans due to Fortress Caribbean High Interest Fund which bore 

interest at a rate of 6% per annum, were unsecured short term loans and were repaid on July 31, 2015.  

 

At September 30, 2014, the Value Fund had loans due to the Development Fund which bore interest at a rate of 

5% per annum. These were unsecured short term loans and were settled during the year. 

 

At September 30, 2014, the Development Fund loan due to Fortress Mutual Fund Limited relating to Fortress 

(St. Lucia) Limited bore interest at year end at a rate of 2.98% per annum. The loan was repaid in 2015 from net 

sales proceeds on the sale of town houses. Interest was payable quarterly at US 3-month LIBOR plus 2.75%. 
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14 Dividends per share 

A dividend of $0.035 (2014-$0.035) per share was declared during the financial year and paid on December 31, 

2014 for the Value Fund. This amounted to a dividend totaling $1,947,843 (2014- $1,947,843).  

 

There were no dividends paid for the Development Fund. 

 

15 Net rental income 

Rental income earned in the Value Fund is shown net of direct property expenses of $1,431,203 (2014- 

$1,534,536) incurred in managing the properties. 

 

16 Net gains and carrying costs of real estate available for re-sale 

All gains and carrying cost of real estate available for re-sale relate to the Development Fund. 

 

The Villas on The Green development incurred net carrying costs of $164,085 (2014-$268,707) which comprise 

of property, administrative and other holding costs and is shown net of $156,418 (2014-$202,773) of rental 

income. During the year two units were sold for net proceeds of $838,247 (2014-$1,423,761), generating a loss 

of $78,879 (2014-$19,475). 

 

The carrying costs also include $135,405 (2014-$47,318) in professional fees and property administration from 

other available for re-sale properties.   

 

17 Related party transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 

influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.   

 

During the year, fund management fees were paid to Fortress Fund Managers Limited amounting to $340,886 

(2014-$337,247) and $121,399 (2014-$141,649) by the Value Fund and the Development Fund respectively. 

 

During the year, investment advisor fees were paid to Altman Real Estate amounting to $340,886 (2014-

$337,247) and $121,399 (2014-$ 141,649) by the Value Fund and the Development Fund, respectively. 

 

Management fees of $1,955 (2014- $2,676) were refunded by Fortress Fund Managers Limited to the 

Development Fund being 0.375% of the net asset values of Fortress Caribbean High Interest Fund shares held 

by the Fund during the year. This is to avoid double charging of management fees on assets invested in related 

Funds which have the same Manager. 

 

Included in the loans payable is $1,200,000 due to Fortress Caribbean High Interest Fund for the Series 1 bond 

payable which bears interest at a rate of 4% per annum, $300,000 for the Series 2 bond payable which bears 

interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum and $1,800,000 for the Series 3 bond payable which bears interest at a rate 

of 5% per annum. Interest expense of $22,000 relating to these loans were recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income.  

 



Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2015 

 
(expressed in Barbados dollars) 
 

(44) 

 

17 Related party transactions…continued 

 

At September 30, 2014, included in the loans payable of the Value Fund was $6,427,387 due to Fortress 

Caribbean High Interest Fund which bore interest at a rate of 6% per annum. This was an unsecured short term 

loan, repayable on July 31, 2015. Interest expense of $219,075 relating to this loan was recognised in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

At September 30, 2014, included in the loans payable of the Value Fund was $900,000 due to the Development 

Fund which bears interest at a rate of 5% per annum. This amount is included in the amount due from related 

parties in the Development Fund. This was an unsecured short term loan, repayable on September 30, 2015. 

Interest expense of $45,000 relating to this loan was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. 

 

The amount due from related parties in the Value Fund of $96,447 (2014- nil) are due from the Development 

Fund. This amount is interest free and is repayable on demand. 

 

As at September 30, 2014, the amount due to related parties of $ nil (2014- $64,501) in the Value Fund were due 

to the Development Fund. This amount was interest free and repayable on demand. 

 

Included in net rental income of the Value Fund is an amount of $1,086,284 (2014- $1,088,588) earned from 

affiliated companies. 

 

Included in the accounts payable of the Value Fund is $37,417 (2014- $5,579) due to Fortress Fund Managers 

Limited. 

 

During the year, commissions of $6,767 (2014- $10,106) were charged on property rentals and paid to Altman 

Real Estate and its subsidiaries by the Value Fund. 

 

As at September 30, 2014, loans payable of the Development Fund of $393,138 was due to Fortress Mutual 

Fund Limited with respect to Fortress (St. Lucia) Limited. Interest expense of $33,614 relating to this loan was 

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  

 

Included in due from related parties of the Development Fund is $48,000 (2014- $240,000) from the CS&C 

Joint Venture. The loan bears interest at a rate prime less 2%. At September 30, 2015 interest rate on the loan 

was 6.05% (2014- 6.05%). The loan is repayable from the net sales proceeds on the sale of the lands at Lower 

Estate.  

 

Included in accounts receivable of the Development Fund is $175,000 due to an affiliated company.  

 

Included in the accounts payable is $5,069 (2014- $9,479) and $21,075 (2014- $691) due to Altman Real Estate 

and its subsidiaries by the Value Fund and the Development Fund respectively. 

 

Property management fees of $87,000 (2014- $87,000) and $7,200 (2014- $7,200) were paid to Altman Real 

Estate and its subsidiary Property Consultancy Services during the year by the Value Fund and the Development 

Fund respectively.  
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17 Related party transactions…continued 

 

Directors and subcommittee fees of $28,527 (2014- $25,757) and $17,485 (2014- $20,238) were paid during the 

year by the Value Fund and the Development Fund respectively. Directors’ interest (including beneficial 

interests) in the segregated cellular shares are as follows: 

 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Geoffrey Cave     

Number of shares held at September 30 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 

     

Paul Altman     

Number of shares held at September 30 659,920 659,920 659,920 659,920 

     

Anthony Audain     

Number of shares held at September 30 26,000 26,000 26,000 26,000 

     

Sir Trevor Carmichael     

Number of shares held at September 30 26,333 26,333 26,333 26,333 

     

Maureen Davis     

Number of shares held at September 30 21,506 21,506 21,506 21,506 

     

Terry Hanton     

Number of shares held at September 30 7,200 7,200 7,200 7,200 

     

John Williams     

Number of shares held at September 30 17,000 17,000 17,000 17,000 

 
Related party interests in cellular shares are as follows: 

 

 Number of shares 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 
Fortress Caribbean Pension Fund Limited 7,229,491 3,948,677 3,350,277 3,350,277 

Fortress Mutual Fund Limited 1,964,171 1,964,171 1,964,171 1,964,171 

Fortress Caribbean High Interest Limited 883,690 532,775 – – 
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18 Share capital 
 

On September 24th, 2013, at a special meeting of the shareholders of the Class “A” shares, the proposal to divide 

the Company into a segregated cell company was approved. As a result, effective October 1, 2013, the Company 

was converted in a segregated cell company namely Fortress Caribbean Property Fund Limited SCC (the Fund). 

The Fund is divided into two cells, Fortress Caribbean Property Fund- Value Fund (the Value Fund) and 

Fortress Caribbean Property Fund -Development Fund (the Development Fund). Each share previously owned 

by the Class “A” shareholders has been replaced by one share in the Value Fund and one share in the 

Development Fund.  

 

The split of the Fund into the two cells is currently reflected on the Barbados Stock Exchange, the Company’s 

primary exchange listing. Trading on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange has been suspended. Each share 

will trade independently. 

  

During the year the Development Fund repurchased 450,127 (2014- 652,965) fund shares for a total 

consideration of $107,225 (2014- $140,557). 

 

   2015  2014 

          

 

  

Number 

of shares  $  

Number 

of shares  $ 

 Value Fund Shares         

          

 Authorised         

 An unlimited number of cellular         

 shares of no par value         

 Issued and outstanding  55,652,768  37,209,540  55,652,768  37,209,540 

          

 Development Fund Shares         

          

 Authorised         

 An unlimited number of cellular         

 shares of no par value         

          

 Balance- beginning of the year  54,999,803  28,968,603  55,652,768  29,312,522 

 Less treasury shares  (450,127)  (237,084)  (652,965)  (343,919) 

  

Balance- end of the year  54,549,676  28,731,519  54,999,803  28,968,603 

 

The Fund is authorised to issue 100 common shares and an unlimited number of cellular shares divided into the 

Value Fund and the Development Fund cells. At September 30, 2015, 10 common shares at a total consideration 

of $10 were issued and outstanding. The common shares are held equally by the Investment Advisor and the 

Fund Manager and no common share can be transferred to any person other than another investment advisor or  

fund manager. The holders of the common shares have the voting rights. Each common share entitles the holder 

to one vote per share. The holders of the common shares are not entitled to receive dividends. 
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18 Share capital...continued 
 

The Value Fund shares 

  

The holders of Value Fund shares have an interest in the undivided portion of assets of the related segregated 

cell. These shares secure an equal share in distribution of net income and net capital gains and participate 

equally in all other respects. Value Fund shares may not be redeemed by the shareholders, but may be traded on 

the Barbados Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange as the Directors may determine. 

 

The rights and privileges of the Value Fund shareholders are equal in all respects and include the right to: 

 

1) To receive notice of and attend all meetings of shareholders of the Fund but not to vote at any such meeting 

except on the matters particularly set out hereinafter: 

- The liquidation of the Value Fund; 

- The winding up of the company; 

- The reconstruction of the company, and/or the amalgamation of the company and/or the Value Fund 

with any other company or mutual fund. 

2) To receive cellular dividends when declared by directors. 

3) Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Fund or other distribution of the assets of the Fund for 

the purpose of winding up its affairs, the Value Fund shareholders shall be entitled to receive after payment 

of all the liabilities of the Fund attributable to the Value Fund, the assets represented by the stated capital 

and reserves attributable to the Value Fund.  

 

The Development Fund shares 

 

The holders of the Development Fund shares have an interest in the undivided portion of assets of the related 

segregated cell. These shares secure an equal share in distribution of net income and net capital gains and 

participate equally in all other respects. Development Fund shares may not be redeemed by the shareholders, but 

may be traded on the Barbados Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange as the Directors may determine. 

 

The rights and privileges of the Development Fund shareholders are equal in all respects and include the right 

to: 

 

1) To receive notice of and attend all meetings of shareholders of the Fund but not to vote at any such meeting 

except on the matters particularly set out hereinafter: 

- The liquidation of the Development Fund; 

- The winding up of the company; 

- The reconstruction of the company, and/or the amalgamation of the company and/or the Development 

Fund with any other company or mutual fund. 

 

2) To receive cellular dividends when declared by directors. 

3) Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Fund or other distribution of the assets of the Fund for 

the purpose of winding up its affairs, the Development Fund shareholders shall be entitled to receive after 

payment of all the liabilities of the Fund attributable to the Development Fund, the assets represented by the 

stated capital and reserves attributable to the Development Fund.  
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19 Earnings per share and net asset value 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the shareholders by the weighted 

average number of cellular shares in issue during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by 

adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive 

potential ordinary shares. There are no ‘unpurchased’ shares to be added to the cellular shares outstanding for 

the purpose of computing diluted earnings per share.   

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as follows: 

 

 Value Fund Development Fund 

            2015 2014             2015 2014 

                 $ $ $ $ 

Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable 

to shareholders 

 

976,338 1,869,120 
 

(1,533,488) (3,552,341) 

     

Weighted average number of Class “A” 

shares in issue 

 

55,652,768 55,652,768 
 

54,549,676 54,999,803 

     

Basic and diluted earnings per share 0.02 0.03 (0.03) (0.06) 

     

Net asset value 43,721,002 44,692,507 25,232,957 26,873,670 

     

Net asset value per share 0.79 0.80 0.46 0.49 

 

20 Commitments 

Operating lease commitments - where the Value Fund is the lessee 
 

The future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows: 

 

  

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Value Fund    

Not later than 1 year  138,600 131,250 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  587,895 574,035 

Later than 5 years  979,454 1,113,466 
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20 Commitments...continued 

Operating lease commitments - where the Value Fund is the lessor 
 

The future lease payments receivable under operating leases are as follows: 

 

  

2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Value Fund    

Not later than 1 year  2,492,274 7,903,119 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  2,163,906 8,245,791 

Later than 5 years  – – 

 

Included in the above disclosure are retail leases in which the lessee has the option to cancel the lease with 

notice prior to the end of the agreed upon lease period. The future minimum lease payments receivable under 

cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 

  

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Value Fund    

Not later than 1 year  1,525,157 1,390,940 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  1,253,064 1,025,507 

Later than 5 years  – – 

 

21 Contingencies 

 
In the prior year year, LIME Barbados had indicated a phased withdrawal and early termination of the triple net 

lease of the Wildey property owned by the BET Joint Venture which expires in 2016. There is no provision in 

the lease contract for early termination. Under careful guidance from legal counsel The BET Joint Venture has 

accepted an early termination agreement. The terms are agreed in principle subject to a written deed of surrender 

being prepared and executed by the parties. Every effort will be made to ensure shareholders’ rights and 

interests are protected. 

 

22 Subsequent events  
 

A dividend of $0.03 per share was declared subsequent to the financial year and is payable on December 31, 

2015 for the Value Fund. This amounts to a dividend totaling $1,669,583. 
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